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Odyssey HealthCare operates Medicare-certified hospice programs across the United States—at year end, the
company had 66 hospice programs in 29 states. In terms of both average daily patient census and number of
communities served, the company is one of the largest providers of hospice care in the country. Odyssey seeks to
improve the quality of life of terminally ill patients and their families by providing care directed at managing

pain and other discomforting symptoms and by addressing the psychosocial and spiritual needs of patients and

their families.
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To Our SHAREHOLDERSS

e reported solid performance in 2003, our second
full year as a public company and our eighth full

year of operation.

We served approximately 32,000 patients and families
in 2003, an increase of 24 percent from 2002,

We earned 84 cents per share, up 45 percent from 2002.

And, we expanded into 15 additional communities,
continuing to establish a foundation for additional
growth in the future.

The credit for these results rests with our 3,900 team members,
approximately 75 percent of whom care for patients and families
every day, providing what many call the “gift of hospice.” They
are driven by our mission—to serve all people during the end of
life’s journey, and the quality care and compassion they provide
for patients and families are our most important “bottom line.”

I deeply appreciate their talents, service and dedication.

OUR OPERATIONS

In 2003, net patient service revenue grew 41 percent to $274.3
million, compared to $194.5 million in 2002. Net income in
2003 was $31.2 million, a 48 percent increase over the $21.1
million for 2002. Earnings per diluted share, as noted above,
were 84 cents, an increase of 45 percent over the 58 cents in 2002.
This per share information for 2002 reflects our 50 percent stock
dividends on February 21 and August 12, 2003.

We continue to increase the number of patients we serve in
our existing hospice programs, and we are also starting up new
programs and acquiring other hospices. We admitted 26,763
patients in 2003, an increase of 21 percent from 2002. The
average daily patient census increased 37 percent, from 4,407
in 2002 to 6,019 in 2003.

Of the total patient census growth from December 2002 to
December 2003, 20 percent was from our hospice programs
which had been Medicare certified 12 months or longer (“same
store”), 11 percent was from acquisitions and two percent was
from start-up programs.

The 20 percent growth rate in our same store programs
reflects, I believe, both the continuing need for hospice
services throughout the country and the quality of our care.
Given the demographic trends of the population, the increasing
acceptance and understanding of hospice and the quality care
we provide, I believe same store growth should remain strong
for the foreseeable future.

As I write this letter, we have 68 Medicare-certified hospice
programs in 29 states. We entered nine new communities
through our start-up initiatives in 2003 and also established
two additional Medicare-certified programs in communities
that we had previously served from a nearby city. We are already
developing seven additional programs, which should be certified
in 2004.

Obviously, our start-up initiatives impact our margins. On
average a start-up takes six months to become certified so

that we can begin billing Medicare for our services. (In 2003,
Medicare accounted for approximately 93 percent of our revenue.)
Start-ups reach break even in approximately 13 months. In 2003,
the investments in our start-ups accounted for $3.3 million;

we expect start-up costs in 2004, including the dedicated team
that oversees this activity, to cost approximately $5 million. The
payback from these initiatives is impressive—the six start-ups
Medicare certified in 2002 contributed $2.6 million in income
from operations in 2003.

We also acquired eight hospice programs, six in communities
we had not previously served. We began 2004 by purchasing

a 400-patient hospice, operating from two cities, our largest
acquisition to date. In recent years, acquisitions have not repre-
sented a large piece of our annual growth rate—15 percent in
2002 and 11 percent in 2003. We intend to continue to evaluate
various acquisition opportunities and utilize this means to
expand when it is strategically appropriate.

Like start-ups, acquisitions can impact our margins. Smaller
acquisitions have the same financial impacc as a small start-up;
larger acquisitions typically have lower margins than Odyssey
programs serving the same number of patients. Within approxi-
mately six months, programs we purchase are generally operating

with margins in line with our programs of the same size.

2002 and 2003 represent our most aggressive geographic expansion
to date. During the past two years, we have entered 17 new
communities through our start-up initiatives and 22 new
communities through our acquisition program. Nine of these
acquisitions were serving less than 40 patients, and therefore

have financial results similar to a start-up.

Because of this push into new communities through start-ups
and acquisitions, the average number of patients being served
by one of our programs is about 100 patients per day. We expect
them to grow much larger, and with growth should come
improved martgins. Such growth requires additional staff, but no
bricks and mortar since 97.5 percent of out patients receive our
care in their place of residence, either their own home or in a

long-term care facility such as a nursing home. As an example
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Our strategy, then, is simple: enter additional communities where there is a need for bospice;
provide excellent service to patients, families and the medical community that is our source
of veferrals; increase the patient census over time; and effectively manage our costs.

of the size and potential [of our programs, our largest hospice
program, in Phoenix, Arizona, cares for more than 300 patients

a day and is growing.

At year end, we had 19 programs with less than 50 patients,

17 programs wich 50 to 100 patients, 19 programs with 100

to 200 patients, and 11 programs with more than 200 patients.
Site-level operating margins for those programs are generally as
follows: less than 50 patiénts, negative margins; 50 to 100 patients,
margins in the mid 20 percent range; 100 to 200 patients,
margins in the mid 30 percent range; and 200 patients or more,
in the high 30 percent range with some exceeding 40 percent.

Our strategy, then, is simple: enter additional communities
where there is a need for hospice; provide quality service to
patients, families and the medical community that is our
source of referrals; increase the patient census over time; and
effectively manage our costs. Historically, we have an excellent
track record in accomplishing this mission, but I believe there

are opportunities for improvement.

For example, we are taking steps to reduce our operating costs in
2004 while continuing to provide quality patient care. In 2003
our pharmacy costs increased four percent on a per patient day
basis over 2002, but increased 14 percent per patient day from
the third to fourth quarters of 2003. While half of the quarter to
quarter increase was a result of unfavorable pharmacy contracts
associated with two acquisitions in the last half of 2003, which
we have taken steps to change, the remainder of che increase
came from our existing hospice programs. We have identified
the areas where improvements can be made in these programs—
notably in the utilization of less expensive, but just as effective,
drugs and improved phafmacy contracts—and have begun to
effect changes. We expect our pharmacy costs to return to more
typical rates in the latter part of 2004.

Also, as a service provider, labor represents half of our direct
costs. To monitor and control these costs, we implemented a
salary administration program in the early stages of the company,
and you can expect continued strong oversight in this area.
However to hire and retain certain critical clinical positions,
we may have to make higher than normal salary adjustments in
select markets. That was the case in the fourth quarter, especially
in California. We currently expect normal inflationary increases
in 2004, but if necessary, we will tespond to competitive hiring
pressures that may occur in the markets we serve.

Finally, while our admissions for the year were strong, we've
enhanced our sales and marketing efforts by adding a new senior
marketing officer to focus on the growth of our business and two
professionals dedicated to training and assisting our 200-plus
community education representatives, who work with our referral
sources. We believe these changes, as well as others in the sales
and marketing area, will produce good results.

OUR PEOPLE

In early 2003 we announced Chief Executive Officer Richard
R. Burnham'’s intention to retire from day-to-day management
effective January 1, 2004. I was named to succeed him, and

he remains chairman of the Board of Directors. Dick and I
co-founded Odyssey, and I served as president while he was chief
executive officer. I deeply appreciate his leadership, vision, and
especially his friendship. I, like everyone else at Odyssey, wish
him the very best.

In 2003 we also added two new members to the Board of
Directors, whose experiences will add greatly to the company —
Dr. Paul J. Feldstein, professor and Robert Gumbiner Chair in
Healthcare Management at the Graduate School of Management,
University of California, Irvine, and Shawn S. Schabel, president
and chief operating officer of Lincare Holdings Inc,

Finally, I want to end this letter as I began it, by thanking
members of the Odyssey team across the country. Virtually every
day I receive a letter from a family member of a patient whose
life has been touched by their care and compassion. Without the
caregivers and the support staff behind the scenes, none of this is
possible. It is because of them that I am confident in our success
in 2004.

ﬁa« %M

David C. Gasmire
February 24, 2004
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 (as amended, the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended, the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of
historical facts contained in this report, including statements regarding our future financial position, business
strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The
words “believe”, “may”, “will”, “estimate”, “continue”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “‘expect” and similar
expressions, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these
forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and
financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and
financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and assumptions described in “Item 1. Business” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
including, among other things:

 our dependence on revenue from the Medicare and Medicaid programs;
+» our dependence on patient referrals;

+ our ability to develop hospice programs in new markets or increase census in markets that we currently
serve;

» the effect of changes in healthcare licensure, regulation and payment methods;

« our ability to identify suitable hospices to acquire on favorable terms;

« our ability to integrate effectively the operations of acquired hospices;

» our ability to attract and retain key personnel and skilled employees;

» the effect of reductions in, or cap on, amounts paid to us by the Medicare and Medicaid programs;
» the effect of rising prices on labor, pharmacy, durable medical equipment and medical supplies;

+ our ability to control costs; and

+ our ability to obtain additional capital to finance growth.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances
discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially from
those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Many of these factors are beyond our ability to
control or predict. Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s views only as of the date hereof. We undertake no
obligation to revise or update any of the forward-looking statements or publicly announce any updates or
revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations
with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, circumstances or assumptions underlying such
statements.

PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview
We are one of the largest providers of hospice care in the United States in terms of both average daily
census and number of providers. As a hospice care provider, our goal is to improve the quality of life of

terminally ill patients and their families. We believe that our overriding focus on the delivery of quality,
responsive service differentiates us from other hospice care providers.
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We have grown rapidly since we opened our first hospice provider location in January 1996. Through a
series of acquisitions and the development of new hospices, we now have 68 Medicare-certified hospice
programs to serve patients and their families in 29 states. During January 2004, our average daily census was
7,007 patients, which represents a 36.1% increase over our average daily census in January 2003 of 3,150
patients. Our net patient service revenue increased from $1.0 million in 1996 to $274.3 million in 2003. Our
net patient service revenue of $274.3 million for 2003 represents an increase of 41.1% over our net patient
service revenue of $194.5 million for 2002. We intend to continue our growth through internal growth, the
development of new hospice programs and a disciplined strategy of acquisitions. Financial information about
our segments is contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 15” of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. :

We were incorporated in Delaware in August 1995 and began operations in Janﬁary 1996. Our executive
offices are located at 717 N. Harwood, Suite 1500, Dallas, Texas 75201 and our telephone number is
(214) 922-9711.

Hospice Care

The first hospice in the United States opened in 1974, In 1982, Congress enacted legislation creating the
Medicare hospice program. Hospice care became a covered benefit under the Medicare program in 1983,
separate and distinct from home health care and nursing home care. Unlike home health care, which focuses
on the curative treatment of patients, hospice care focuses primarily on improving the quality of life of
terminally ill patients and their families.

A central concept of hospice care involves the creation of an interdisciplinary team that provides
comprehensive management of the healthcare services and products needed by hospice patients and their
families. An interdisciplinary team is typically comprised of:

» a physician;

*+ a patient care manager;

+ one or more registered nurses;

« one or more certified home health aides;
» a medical social worker;

+ a chaplain;

* a homemaker; and

 one or more specially trained volunteers.

We assign each of our hospice patients to an interdisciplinary team, which assesses the clinical,
psychosocial and spiritual needs of the patient and his or her family, develops a plan of care, and delivers,
monitors and coordinates that plan with the goal of providing appropriate care for the patient and his or her
family. This interdisciplinary team approach offers significant benefits to hospice patients, their families and
payors including:

+ the provision of coordinated care and treatment;
+ clear accountability for clinical outcomes and cost of services; and
s the potential reduction of stress and dysfunction of patients and their families.

In contrast, the treatment of terminally ill patients outside the hospice setting often results in the patient
receiving medical services from physicians, hospitals, home health agencies, skilled nursing facilities, home
infusion therapy companies and/or pharmacies, with little or no effective coordination among the providers.
This lack of coordination often results in a lack of clear accountability for clinical outcomes and the cost of
services provided. In addition, the provision of services in this uncoordinated fashion may cause additional
stress and dysfunction to patients and their families and result in higher costs.
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Medicare-certified hospice providers are primarily compensated on a per diem basis based on the level of
care provided to an individual patient and must provide the following four distinct levels of care:

* Routine Home Care. Routine home care is hospice care provided to patients and their families at
home or'in a long-term care facility where the patient resides. Routine home care involves regular visits
by members of the interdisciplinary team. Routine home care is the largest component of services
provided by hospice care providers.

 General Inpatient Care. General inpatient care is provided in instances where short-term inpatient
care is required for pain control or symptom management that cannot feasibly be provided in other
settings.. These services are provided in either a free-standing inpatient facility, a hospital or a specially
equipped and staffed long-term care facility.

« Continuous Home Care. Continuous home care is provided during periods of crisis when a patient
requires  constant care, primarily nursing care, to achieve palliation or management of acute medical
symptoms. To qualify for Medicare continuous home care payments, the care must be provided for a
minimum of eight hours during a 24-hour day and nursing care must account for fifty percent of the
care provided during the periods.

* Respite Care. Respite care is short-term inpatient care provided to a patient only when necessary to
relieve the patient’s family or other caregiver from the demands of providing care and support to
hospice patients in their homes. These services are provided in inpatient facilities similar to those used
to provide general inpatient care.

For a complete description of our hospice services, see “— Qur Hospice Services.”

The Hospice Industry and Market Opportunity
The Hospice Industry

Medicare, the largest payor for hospice services, pays hospice providers fixed daily or hourly amounts
based on one of the four levels of care provided to hospice patients and their families. In addition to Medicare,
hospice care is icovered by Medicaid in 43 states and the District of Columbia and by most private insurance
plans.

According to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), Medicare payments for
hospice services increased from approximately $118 million in 1988 to approximately $4 billion in 2003.
According to the United States General Accounting Office (“GAQ”) and CMS, the number of Medicare
beneficiaries electing hospice care increased over 300% between 1992 and 2001. We believe that these
significant increases are due in large part to increasing public awareness and acceptance of hospice care and
the benefits hospice provides to patients, their families and payors. Despite the rapid growth of the Medicare
hospice program, hospice services represented less than three percent of total Medicare spending in 2003.

In the past decade, the number of hospice providers and beneficiaries in the United States has increased
significantly. According to the GAO and CMS, the number of Medicare beneficiaries who elected hospice
care increased ffrom approximately 143,000 in 1992 to approximately 594,000 in 2001. To meet this growing
demand, the number of Medicare-certified hospice programs also increased from approximately 1,208 in 1992
to 2,275 in 2002.

As the hospice industry has grown significantly, the types of medical conditions of patients who have
chosen hospice care have broadened. In 1992, according to the GAO, 75.6% of the Medicare beneficiaries
electing hospice care had conditions related to cancer. In 2001, the percentage of Medicare beneficiaries
electing hospice care who had conditions related to cancer declined to 53.6%. According to the GAO, from
1992 to 1998, hospice enrollment by Medicare beneficiaries with cancer increased 90.5%, while enrollment by
beneficiaries with all other conditions increased 338.0%. Our total admissions for 2003 increased 420.2% over
our total admissions for 1998, with cancer admissions and non-cancer admissions representing 32.4% and
67.6%, respectively, of total growth. In 1998, our cancer admissions and non-cancer admissions represented
45.0% and 55/0%, respectively, of all admissions. In 2003, cancer admissions decreased to 34.8% of all
admissions and non-cancer admissions increased to 65.2% of all admissions. We believe that the increasing
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diversity of the medical conditions of the hospice patient population represents a growing acceptance and
understanding of hospice care by the general public and healthcare practitioners. We believe that the trend in
increasing diversity of the medical conditions of the hospice patient population is continuing.

The hospice industry has experienced an increase in the average lengths of stay over the past several
years. According to the National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization, the average hospice length of stay
increased from 48 days in 1999 to 51 days in 2002. Our average hospice length of stay has increased from
65 days in 2002 to 74 days in 2003. Decisions about whether and when to use hospice care depend on
physician preferences and practices, patient choice and diagnosis, and public and professional awareness of the
Medicare hospice benefit. To increase awareness of hospice, CMS sent a letter to all Medicare-certified
hospices in September 2000, and advertised in physician publications in 2002, reaffirming that Medicare
hospice beneficiaries are not limited to six months of coverage and that there is no limit on how long a
Medicare beneficiary can receive hospice benefits and services, provided that the beneficiary continues to meet
the eligibility criteria under the Medicare hospice program. See “— Government Regulation — Overview of
Government Payments.”

Market Opportunity

We believe that a number of factors will drive growth in the hospice industry. We believe that we are well
positioned to take advantage of these growth opportunities:

» Aging Population in the United States. Over 85% of our patients are age 65 and over. According to
the 2000 census conducted by the United States Census Bureau, an estimated 35.0 million persons, or
approximately 12.4% of the total United States population, were age 65 and over. The United States
Census Bureau projects that the population of persons age 65 and over will rise to an estimated
53.7 million persons, or approximately 16.5% of the total United States population, by the year 2020.

» Underserved Hospice Market. 1In 2001, approximately 2.4 million persons died in the United States.
Of these, approximately 1.9 million were age 65 and over. According to the National Hospice and
Palliative Care Organization, only approximately 32% of those who died in 2001 received hospice care.
We believe that a significant percentage of Medicare beneficiaries who do not receive hospice services
would be appropriate for hospice care. Approximately 45% of our hospice patients resided in nursing
homes and other long-term care facilities in December 31, 2002 and 2003. According to an article
published in the Journal of the American Medical Association, nearly half of all persons in the United
States who live to age 65 will enter a nursing home before they die. Many nursing home patients have
medical conditions that may make them appropriate for hospice care. However, only an estimated one
percent of the nursing home population enrolls in hospice care. We believe that the relatively low level
of hospice care penetration and the growing population of persons age 65 and over demonstrate that the
market for hospice care services is substantially underserved.

» Cost Savings of Hospice Care to the Medicare Program. According to CMS, Medicare beneficiaries
incur an estimated 28% of all Medicare costs in their last year of life, with an estimated 50% of that
total incurred in the last two months of life. Studies have demonstrated that hospice care generates
significant savings to the Medicare program. These Medicare savings are generated because patients
are typically treated in their residence throughout their illness without the need for treatment in
expensive acute care facilities. We believe that the cost savings related to hospice care, combined with
the projected substantial increase in Medicare beneficiaries, further enhance the potential growth of
the hospice industry.

» Fragmented Hospice Market. Although there are several large national and regional hospice provid-
ers, we believe the hospice industry remains highly fragmented, consisting of approximately
2,300 Medicare-certified hospice programs throughout the country, most of which are small- and
medium-sized providers. According to the GAO, in 1999 approximately 56.7% and 37.2% of the
Medicare-certified hospices were small- and medium-sized providers, respectively. In its study, the
GAO included all Medicare-certified hospice providers with less than 100 patient admissions in 1999
as small providers and included all Medicare-certified hospice providers with at least 100, but less than
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500, patient admissions in 1999 as medium-sized providers. We believe that the fragmentation of the
hospice industry provides significant opportunities for consolidation in the hospice industry.

» Increasing Public Awareness and Acceptance of Hospice Care. Between 1992 and 2001 the number of
Medicare beneficiaries electing hospice care increased over 300% and the diversification of medical
conditions of patients electing hospice care also increased significantly. Public and professional
awareness and acceptance of hospice care significantly influences the use of hospice care. The need for
greater public and professional understanding of options for end-of-life care, including hospice, has
been highlighted in Congressional hearings and other public forums and by medical societies, patient
advocacy groups and the hospice industry. We believe that public awareness and acceptance of hospice
care is increasing and is likely to continue to increase in the future.

Our Competitive Advantages

We have grown rapidly and achieved profitability as a result of the following competitive advantages:

We are one of the largest providers of hospice care

We are one of the largest providers of hospice care in the United States in terms of both average daily
census and number of providers. Our average daily census for January 2004 was 7,007 patients, and we
currently have 68 hospice providers to serve patients and their families in 29 states. We believe that our size
provides us with numerous operating advantages over small hospices, which make up most of the hospice
industry, including:

» Professionally Trained Community Education Team. We employ a professionally trained team of
approximately 200 community education representatives who regularly educate new and existing
patient referral sources about the benefits of hospice care and the services that we provide. Our team of
community education representatives has enabled us to develop a significant base of patient referral
sources lin our markets. Unlike most hospice care providers, we have the resources to maintain this
dedicated community education staff.

o Comprehensive Compliance and Continuous Quality Improvement Programs. We have developed,
implemented and maintain comprehensive compliance and continuous quality improvement programs
as part of our provision of centralized corporate services to our 68 hospice providers. We believe this
provides a competitive advantage because it facilitates the delivery of consistent and quality service to
our patients and their families, allows us dedicated staffing to oversee our hospice programs for
compliance purposes which facilitates ongoing growth, and ensures that our clinical employees are well
trained. For a more detailed discussion of our compliance and continuous quality improvement
programs, see ‘‘— Compliance and Continuous Quality Improvement Programs.”

s Active Cost Management and Centralized Corporate Services. We actively manage and monitor
several indicators to track performance across our multiple hospice programs, which enables us to
develop best practices, improve efficiencies and manage costs. In addition, we have centralized many of
our administrative functions, thereby enabling us to spread administrative costs over our multiple
hospice programs. We also believe that our size and local market presence allow us to negotiate more
favorable purchasing arrangements with suppliers of drugs, durable medical equipment and disposable
medical supplies. We have successfully negotiated local purchasing contracts that provide for discounts
and in some instances per diem arrangements for drugs and durable medical equipment, rather than
the more typical fee-for-service arrangements.

We are a responsive, comprehensive provider of quality hospice services

We focus on the prompt and efficient delivery of services to our patients and their families by adhering to
our 14 service standards, which stress:

+ patient admissions within three hours after receiving a physician’s order for hospice care;

« daily contact with our patients and their families to assess their needs;
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» prompt, responsive and comprehensive service for our patients and their families at all times; and
+ satisfaction of individualized patient and family needs.

We believe that our ability to consistently provide responsive, quality service to our patients and their
families has been a key factor in our ability to increase patient referrals. We also believe that our commitment
to provide comprehensive hospice care is an important factor in increasing patient referrals.

We have a proven track vecord in growing our business through a balanced growth strategy

We have grown rapidly through internal growth, development of new hospice programs and a focused
strategy of acquisitions. Since we began our operations, our net patient service revenue has increased from
$1.0 million in 1996 to $274.3 million in 2003. We reported net income of $21.1 million and $31.2 million in
2002 and 2003, respectively.

We have developed over 20 new hospice programs since we began operations, and we are currently
developing seven additional programs. When developing a new hospice program, we utilize our standardized
operating model that includes daily cost management and community education programs to increase patient
referrals. Applying our standardized development approach, on average, we have reached breakeven, as
measured by income, excluding corporate overhead allocations, at our new programs within approximately
13 months from the date we began development.

We have acquired over 50 hospice programs since beginning our operations in 1996, including our recent
acquisition in the first quarter of 2004 of hospice programs in Amarillo and Conroe, Texas. Nine of these
programs were combined with other programs and one program was subsequently closed. We have
successfully integrated our acquired hospice programs into our operations by implementing our standardized
operating model that focuses on providing outstanding care, minimizing costs and growing patient census.

We have successfully increased our patient referrals in substantially all of the markets in which we
operate by providing responsive, quality service and utilizing our community education representatives to
establish and develop referral sources.

We have a standardized and efficient operating model

We operate in a fixed payment environment, with primarily per diem payments, based on the level of care
that we provide to our patients and their families. Accordingly, controlling our costs is essential to maintaining
our profitability.

We actively manage and monitor several day-to-day indicators, including admissions, discharges by type
of discharge and admission conversions on a daily basis. We also track on a regular basis various key measures
of our costs per day of care, including costs of labor, medication, durable medical equipment, medical supplies
and mileage expense incurred by our caregivers. These measurement tools assist us in tracking the
performance of our business and efficiently providing quality, responsive care to our patients and their families.
We believe that most hospice providers do not have the resources to implement systems to effectively monitor
and manage the cost of providing hospice care.

Each of our hospice programs is supported by our corporate office in Dallas, Texas, which provides
coordination, centralized resources and corporate services to each of our hospice programs. The support
services that our corporate office provides allows us to reduce our administrative overhead and should allow us
to gain additional operating efficiencies as we grow.

We can apply our standardized operating model at programs which are acquired in approximately 90-
180 days. We apply our standardized operating model from the inception of the start-up program.

We have an experienced management team

Our ability to grow profitably, deliver quality services and implement our operating model is due, in large
part, to our senior management team. Qur top seven executive officers have significant experience in the
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hospice and healthcare industries. Our senior management team operates as a cohesive, complementary group,
reflecting extensive marketing experience, as well as operating knowledge and understanding of the regulatory
environment in which we operate. We believe that our management team differentiates us from small hospice
providers, which generally lack the resources to attract and maintain an experienced management team.

Our Business Strategy

Our goal is to become the leading provider of hospice care in the United States. To achieve this goal, we
have adopted the following strategies: '

Provide high quality hospice service to patients, families and referral sources

The most important aspect of our business is our commitment to deliver high quality hospice service to all
of our constituencies. Those constituencies and the services we provide include the following:

Patients and their families. Qur interdisciplinary team, comprised of a physician, nurse, home health
aide, social worker, and chaplain, seeks to improve the quality of life of terminally ill patients and their
families by providing care directed at managing pain and other discomforting symptoms and addressing the
psychosocial and spiritual needs of patients and their families. Care-giving services; drugs; durable medical
equipment, such as hospital beds and wheelchairs; and medical supplies associated with the terminal illness
are provided atmo cost to the patient under the Medicare benefit. In addition, trained volunteers, managed and
supervised by our staff, assist the patient with non-medical projects or errands and provide relief for family
caregivers.

Medical community. We work with others in the medical community in ways that best meet their
needs. For example, various physicians, hospitals and long-term care facilities prefer differing methods of
communicating with hospice providers, tracking their patients’ conditions, or coordinating their continued
involvement with the patient. We seek to accommodate the needs of those we work with in the community.

Fundamental to the care we provide is a set of 14 service standards, which we believe, sets us apart from
other hospice providers. We regularly monitor and measure the satisfaction level of the families whose loved
ones we serve to help identify service issues we may have.

In addition, we are also committed to complying fully with all applicable Medicare and Medicaid rules
and regulations. When our hospice programs are caring for approximately 60 patients, a fulltime nurse
dedicated to compliance is hired for the program. In addition, our Clinical and Regulatory Affairs
Department, staffed with fulltime nurses, actively audits and monitors our hospice programs and conducts
training on a regular basis.

We believe that our reputation for consistently delivering our quality, responsive services to our patients
and their families will continue to contribute to our admissions and patient census trends.
Actively seek to increase patient referrals

We actively seek to increase patient referrals at all hospice programs by both increasing patient referrals
from existing referral sources and establishing new referral sources. Our referrals originate from:

¢ physicians;

» long-term care facilities, including nursing homes, assisted living facilities and adult care centers;
+ hospitals;

» managed care companies; and

¢ insurance companies.

In each of our markets, we have implemented a community education plan designed to address the
specific needs of the patient referral sources in that market and to promote the quality, responsive and
comprehensive service we provide to our patients and their families. We utilize two or more dedicated
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community education representatives in each of our markets and currently employ approximately 200
community education representatives company-wide. Each community education representative seeks to
develop relationships with patient referral sources located in the community education representative’s
territory by regularly calling on these referral sources and educating groups of physicians, social workers,
nurses and nursing home personnel regarding hospice care, generally, and our services, specifically. As part of
a community education representative’s ongoing contact with a patient referral source, the community
education representative assists the referral source in identifying patients who are appropriate for hospice care
and provides periodic information on a referred patient’s status.

At each of our hospice programs, our general manager, patient care manager and community education
representatives coordinate their efforts to obtain contracts with nursing homes, managed care companies and
insurance companies. In addition, in many of the markets we serve, we conduct local public relations
campaigns that promote hospice care. We also actively participate in community-related projects to increase
public awareness of hospice care.

We believe that our education efforts, combined with our quality, responsive and comprehensive service,
will enable us to continue to increase patient referrals.

Expand our business in new and existing markets

We intend to expand our business by continuing to grow our existing hospice programs and by actively
pursuing the development of hospice programs in new markets throughout the United States. After we identify
a market in which to develop a new hospice program, we utilize our standardized development approach,
beginning with the identification and recruitment of a general manager who is familiar with the local market,
the hiring of other key personnel and the leasing of office space. We then begin training key personnel and
preparing for the initial Medicare survey. During this phase, we also hire two or more community education
representatives to allow time for extensive training and the development of relationships in the community.
This approach has been successful in increasing patient census in our new hospice programs. We also begin
establishing contractual arrangements with local suppliers, nursing homes, assisted living facilities, adult care
centers and managed care companies. During the next phase of the start-up model, which generally occurs
during the third month of the development of a new hospice program, we seek to admit our first patients, at
which time we request the Medicare survey. After we complete the initial Medicare survey and become
certified, we aggressively expand community education and admissions activities and begin billing for our
services.

Expand our business in new and existing markets by selectively acquiring other hospices

We intend to expand our business by actively pursuing strategic acquisitions of other hospices in new and
existing markets throughout the United States. We believe that significant opportunities exist for growth
through acquisitions of hospices. The hospice industry consists of approximately 2,300 Medicare-certified
hospice programs, most of which are operated by small- and medium-sized providers. The current healthcare
environment presents these providers with several challenges, such as changing regulatory requirements and
increasing cost pressures. We believe that the fragmented nature of the hospice industry, combined with these
other factors, provides us with significant opportunities to grow our business through acquisitions. To take
advantage of acquisition opportunities, we have developed a focused acquisition program that is overseen and
coordinated by our director of mergers and acquisitions.

Before completing an acquisition, we actively seek to retain employees of the acquired hospice by
emphasizing our compensation and benefits programs, our corporate philosophy and their future responsibili-
ties with us. After we acquire a hospice, we:

« continue to seek to retain employees and maintain the existing patient referral base of the hospice;
» improve operations by implementing our efficient operating model and service standards at the hospice;
+ implement our community education program to increase patient referrals by, among other things,

hiring community education representatives; and
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» conductiextensive education and clinical training, including customer service and quality assurance, at
the hospice.

Actively manage patient care costs

Because we operate in a fixed payment environment, paid primarily on a per diem basis by Medicare,
controlling costs is critical to our profitability. We allocate our resources to patients and their families
according to their changing needs, as determined by our patients and their families and physicians in
consultation with an interdisciplinary team, rather than providing all services at all times. Along a patient’s
care continuum, the patient and his or her family may have greater psychosocial and spiritual needs initially
and later have greater medical needs.

Our Hospice Services

When a patient is referred to us, one of our admissions coordinators contacts the referral source to obtain
the necessary patient information and physician approvals. We then contact the patient and his or her family
to explain our hospice program and the services we provide in greater detail and obtain all necessary patient
and family consents and forms. In order to qualify for the Medicare hospice benefit, the patient’s treating
physician and our medical director must certify that the patient has less than six months to live if the disease
runs its normal course in the best judgment of the physician or medical director. In addition, the patient must
certify that he:or she understands the nature of the illness and of hospice care. By signing the certification
statement, the patient surrenders any rights to other Medicare benefits related to the patient’s terminal iliness
while receiving hospice care. The patient retains access to Medicare benefits for conditions not related to the
terminal illness. After these admission requirements are met, a full nursing assessment is performed by one of
our nurses, and we assign the patient to an interdisciplinary team that assumes responsibility for developing
and delivering the patient’s plan of care.

In keeping with the hospice concept, we provide intensive treatment of the physical and emotional pain
and symptoms: associated with terminally ill patients. This palliative care focuses primarily on enhancing a
patient’s comfort and overall quality of life and is generally provided in the patient’s home, a nursing home or a
hospital. Our services are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week and include, among others:

« Nursing Care. Registered nurses coordinate the care for every patient, provide direct patient care and
check symptoms and medications.

* Home Care Aide and Homemaker Services. Home care aides provide personal care to patients, such
as bathing, feeding and dressing. Homemaker services include light housekeeping and assistance with
daily living.

» Spiritual Support and Counseling. Clergy and other counselors provide spiritual support and
counseling to patients and their families.

« Medical Social Services. Social workers provide advice and counseling to patients and their families.

o Physical, Occupational and Speech Therapy Services. Professional therapists provide therapy to
patients to assist them in remaining independent.

s Medications, Equipment and Supplies. We provide drugs, equipment and supplies related to the
terminal illness to patients to treat physical pain and symptoms and to enable patients to receive
hospice care where they reside.

« Continuous Home Care. During periods of crisis, we provide continuous home care for our patients
and their families. This care is predominantly nursing care and is provided in increments of at least
eight hours in a 24-hour period. We provide continuous care when, because of the need for pain and
symptom management, constant monitoring and support are required, but inpatient care is not yet
needed.
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» Respite Care. We provide or arrange for short-term care to patients in inpatient facilities to provide
temporary relief to family members caring for the hospice patient.

s Hospice Inpatient Care. We provide or arrange for short-term hospice inpatient care when adequate
care is not feasible in the patient’s home due to the patient’s condition.

s Volunteer Services and Support. Trained volunteers assist with everyday tasks, such as shopping, and
provide support and companionship, short-term relief for the primary caregivers, personal care services
and certain professional services.

» Financial Counseling. We provide financial counseling to hospice patients and their families to assist
them in handling the financial issues associated with a terminal illness.

» Bereavement Care and Counseling. We provide, at our cost, counseling services to family members
for a period of up to one year following the patient’s death.

We often provide hospice care to patients residing in nursing homes, assisted living facilities and other
similar long-term care facilities, treating the facility essentially as the patient’s home. We have entered into
agreements with these facilities to render hospice care to patients residing in these facilities. During 2002 and
2003, approximately 44.7% and 43.5%, respectively, of our days of care were attributable to patients who
resided in long-term care facilities. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We provide or arrange for inpatient and respite care and services primarily in long-term care facilities and
hospitals under contractual relationships. However, in four communities we operate small free-standing
inpatient facilities and in two communities, we lease space from a hospital to provide inpatient care. Our
interdisciplinary team remains ultimately responsible for the patient and the quality of the services provided to
the patient.

Education

Our patient referral sources are physicians, hospitals, nursing homes, assistéd living facilities, adult care
centers, managed care companies and insurance companies. We have a staff of approximately 200 dedicated
community education representatives who seek to develop relationships with patient referral sources located in
their respective markets by regularly calling on these referral sources and educating groups of physicians,
social workers, nurses, and staff at nursing homes and other long-term care facilities regarding hospice care
generally and our services specifically. As part of a community education representative’s ongoing contact with
a patient referral source, the community education representative assists the referral source in identifying
patients and families who are appropriate for hospice care and provides periodic information on referred
patients’ conditions. In addition to our community education representatives, our more than 2,000 caregivers
who routinely have contact with our referral sources, regularly assist our referral sources in identifying patients
who are appropriate for hospice care.

When we acquire a hospice, we hire additional community education representatives as needed. In each
start-up program, we hire two or more community education representatives prior to the planned opening in
the community to allow time for extensive training and the development of relationships in the community.

We have also developed tailored education plans to meet the specific needs of each of our patient referral
sources:

« Physicians. Our community education representatives target a broad variety of physicians, including
primary care physicians and specialists, who regularly see a high number of patients potentially eligible
for hospice care. We have developed disease specific education materials that we provide to these
physicians. We update each physician who refers a patient to us on the patient’s condition on a regular
basis according to each physician’s instructions. We actively involve the local physician community in
assisting us in creating the type of hospice programs that best meet its needs as well as those of patients
and their families.
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Hospitals. Our community education representatives call on physicians, patient discharge planners
and social workers at hospitals. We utilize our disease specific education materials when educating the
various hospital departments, including cncology and cardiology. We educate hospital staff on the
benefits and cost advantages of hospice care over traditional inpatient care for those patients who are
candidates for hospice care.

Long-Term Care Facilities. We negotiate contracts with nursing homes and have arrangements with
assisted living facilities and adult care centers to provide routine home care, inpatient care and respite
care at ‘these facilitics. Our community education representatives regularly call on nurses, social
workers, directors of nursing, administrators and other staff members at these facilities who are in a
position : to identify or refer hospice patients. In addition, our community education representatives
conduct regular training programs for the staff of these facilities to educate them on hospice care and
its benefits.

o Managed Care Companies and Insurance Companies. Qur community education representatives

regularly call on case managers for managed care companies and insurance companies to discuss the
advantages of our hospice services. We regularly conduct training programs to educate case managers
of the benefits of hospice care, including potential cost savings. Our general managers and community
education representatives coordinate their efforts to obtain contracts with managed care companies and
insurance companies. Because managed care companies and insurance companies often have special
needs, we strive to meet their requirements by providing them with individualized patient reports.

In many of the markets that we serve, we also conduct local public relations campaigns to promote

hospice awareness.

3

Centralized Operations and Information Systems

Centralized Operations

We have designed our organizational structure to achieve a high level of patient and family satisfaction,
provide quality care, permit our hospice programs to continue to grow and develop, and minimize overhead.
Our corporate office in Dallas, Texas, supports each of our hospice programs by providing coordination,
centralized resources and corporate services to each of our hospice programs, including:

financial accounting systems, including billing, accounts receivable, accounts payable and payroll;
information and telecommunications systems;

clinical support services;

human resources administration;

regulatory compliance and quality assurance;

marketing and educational materialé; and

training ‘and development.

We process all billing electronically at our corporate office. Our corporate office bills Medicare monthly
and generally receives payment electronically within fourteen working days. Our corporate accounting
personnel prepare monthly operating statements for each of our hospice programs and review these statements
for operating trends and variance to budget forecasts. We prepare annual operating budgets for each of our
hospice programs. We also provide centralized cash management and accounts payable and payroll processing.

Information Systems

We utilize, multiple server-based systems with laptop and desktop computers to connect all of our hospice
programs to one another electronically. Billings are handled through a centralized server based system. Each
local office enters all initial patient registration information and updates to the billing status through our
intranet system. Our billing system and the use of our intranet system have resulted in greater accuracy and
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more rapid collections. We continue to seek ways to implement relevant technology to enhance business
processes, thereby increasing efficiency. Through the use of our company intranet site, we are facilitating
communications and enhancing standardization of all of our operations through publication and dissemination
of a standard vision and a consistent, comprehensive direction. We have appointed a task force to direct our
compliance with proposed federal regulations regarding the privacy and security of patient medical informa-
tion, and we have met all mandated deadlines. See “— Government Regulation.”

Hospice Offices and Inpatient Facilities

Below is a listing of our current hospice programs by state and city.

Alabama Mississippi
Birmingham Gulfport
Mobile Jackson(2)
Montgomery Missouri

Arizona Kansas City
Phoenix (two inpatient facilities) (1) St. Louis
Tucson (one inpatient facility) (1) Nebraska

Arkansas Omaha
Little Rock Nevada

California Las Vegas (one inpatient facility) (1)
Bakersfield New Jersey
West Covina(2) Edison
Los Angeles (Culver City) New Mexico
Orange County (Garden Grove) Albuquerque
Palm Springs Santa Fe
San Bernardino North Dakota
San Diego Fargo
San Jose Ohio

Colorado Cincinnati
Colorado Springs Cleveland
Denver Columbus

Delaware Toledo
Wilmington Oklahoma

Georgia Oklahoma City
Athens (2) Tulsa
Atlanta (one inpatient facility) (1) Oregon
Valdosta Portland

Illinois Pennsylvania
Chicago (Arlington Heights) Allentown(2)
Chicago (South Chicago) Harrisburg(2)

Indiana Philadelphia
Indianapolis Pittsburgh

Kansas Rhode Island
Wichita Providence(2)

Louisiana South Carolina
Baton Rouge Charleston
Lake Charles Tennessee
New Orleans (Metairie) Memphis
Shreveport Nashville

Michigan

Detroit (Novi)
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Texas ‘ Utah
Amarillo (one inpatient facility) (1) Salt Lake City(3)
Austin ‘ Virginia
Baytown Arlington (2)
Beaumont Hampton Roads (Norfolk)
Big Spring . Richmond
Brownsville . ' Wisconsin
Conroe Milwaukee
Dallas
El Paso
Fort Worth
Houston (Bellaire)
La Grange
Odessa
San Antonio
Temple |
Waxahachie:

(1) Each of our inpatient facilities has 11 beds, except for our facility in Las Vegas, Nevada, which has 22
beds and our facility in Amarillo, Texas, which has 7 beds.

(2) We are currently developing new hospice programs in Arlington, Virginia; Athens, Georgia; West Covina,
California; Allentown, Pennsylvania; Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Jackson, Mississippi; and Providence,
Rhode Island. We anticipate admitting our first hospice patients at most of these new programs by the
fourth quarter of 2004.

(3) Salt Lake‘City, Utah has two alternate delivery sites located in Ogden, Utah and St. George, Utah.

Government Régulation
General

The healthcare industry and our hospices are subject to extensive federal and state regulation. Our
hospice programs are licensed as required under state law as either hospices or home health agencies, or both,
depending on the regulatory requirements of each particular state. In addition, our hospices are required to
meet participation conditions to be eligible to receive payments under the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
All of our hospice programs, other than the seven programs currently in development, are certified for
participation in the Medicare program and are also eligible to receive payments as hospices in the Medicaid
programs of the states in which we operate that offer a Medicaid hospice benefit. Our hospices are subject to
periodic survey by governmental authorities to assure compliance with both state licensing and certification
requirements.

Medicare jis a federally funded and administered health insurance program, primarily for individuals
entitled to Social Security benefits who are 65 years of age or older or who are disabled. Medicaid is a health
insurance program jointly funded by state and federal governments that provides medical assistance to
qualifying low-income persons. Each state Medicaid program has the option to provide payment for hospice
services. Twenty-seven of the 29 states in which we currently operate cover Medicaid hospice services;
however, we cannot assure that these states will continue to cover hospice services or that states into which we
expand our operations may cover or continue to cover hospice services. We have not been adversely affected
by the absence of a Medicaid benefit in the two states in which we currently operate that do not have a
Medicaid hospice benefit.

Medicare Conditions of Participation. The Medicare program requires each of our hospice programs to
satisfy prescribed conditions to be cligible to receive payments, including the following:

« Governing Body. Each hospice program must have a governing body that is responsible for the overall
operation of the hospice program and for ensuring that all services are consistent with accepted
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standards of practice. The governing body must designate one individual who is responsible for the day-
to-day administrative operations of the hospice program.

Medical Director. Each hospice program must have a medical director who is responsible for the
medical component of patient care.

Professional Management. A hospice program may arrange for the provision of non-core services by
another individual or entity. The hospice program must, however, retain professional management
responsibility for arranged services and ensure that these services are furnished safely and effectively by
qualified personnel in accordance with the patient’s plan of care.

Plan of Care. The patient’s attending physician, the medical director and the interdisciplinary team
must establish a written plan of care prior to providing care to the patient.

Continuation of Care. A hospice program cannot discontinue or reduce care provided to a Medicare
beneficiary because of the beneficiary’s inability to pay for that care.

Informed Consent. The hospice program must obtain an informed consent form from either the
hospice patient or a family member that specifies the type of care and services that may be provided as
hospice care during the illness.

In-Service Training. A hospice program must provide an ongoing training program for its employees.

Quality Assurance. A hospice program must provide an ongoing, comprehensive, integrated self-
assessment of the quality and appropriateness of care. See “— Compliance and Continuous Quality
Improvement Programs.” '

Interdisciplinary Team. A hospice program must have an interdisciplinary team that establishes
policies and supervises the provision of hospice care and services. The team must include at least a
physician, registered nurse, social worker and pastoral or other counselor. All of the members of the
team must be employees of the hospice program with the exception of the physician, who may be
under contract with the hospice program.

Volunteers. Hospice programs must recruit and train volunteers to provide care and services under
the supervision of hospice employees. These volunteers must provide administrative or direct patient
care in an amount that, at a minimum, equals five percent of the total patient care hours provided by all
paid hospice employees and contract staff.

Licensure. Each hospice program and all hospice personnel must be licensed, certified or registered in
accordance with applicable state laws and regulations.

Central Clinical Records. Hospice programs must maintain centralized clinical records for each
hospice patient. The records must meet standards relating to content and protection.

Furnishing Core Services. Substantially all “core services” must be provided directly by hospice
employees. “Core services” include nursing, medical, social, physician and counseling services. The
hospice program may use contracted staff to perform core services during periods of peak patient loads
or under extraordinary circumstances, but the hospice program must maintain professional, financial
and administrative responsibility for the services.

In addition to the above conditions of participation, Medicare regulations also establish additional

conditions of participation related to the provision of other hospice care services and supplies, including
physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, home health aide and homemaker services, medical
supplies, short-term inpatient care and direct inpatient care. Each of our hospice programs, other than our
programs currently in development, is certified for participation in the Medicare program and is eligible to
receive payment as a hospice in the Medicaid hospice program, if any, of the state in which it operates. We
anticipate that most of our hospice programs under development will be Medicare certified and Medicaid
eligible by the fourth quarter of 2004. We believe that we are in material compliance with all conditions of
participation for the Medicare program and all eligibility requirements for the Medicaid program.
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Surveys and Audits. Each of our hospice programs is subject to periodic survey by federal and state
governmental authorities to assure compliance with both state licensing and certification requirements. From
time to time, we receive survey reports containing statements of deficiencies for alleged failure to comply with
the various regulatory requirements. These survey reports and statements of deficiencies are common in the
healthcare industry. We review these reports, prepare responses, and take appropriate corrective action, if
required. The ‘reviewing agency is generally authorized to take various adverse actions against a hospice
program found to be in non-compliance, including the imposition of fines or suspension or revocation of a
hospice program’s license. If this adverse action were taken against any of our hospice programs, this action
could materially adversely affect that hospice program’s ability to continue to operate and to participate in the
Medicare and Medicaid programs. This could materially adversely affect our net patient service revenue and
profitability. None of our hospice programs has been suspended at any time from participation in the Medicare
or Medicaid programs or had its state licensure suspended or revoked. We believe that each of our hospice
programs is in material compliance with these licensing and certification requirements.

Certificate of Need Laws and Other Restrictions. Many states have enacted certificate of need laws that
require state approval prior to opening new healthcare facilities or expanding services at existing healthcare
facilities. Approval under the certificate of need laws is generally conditioned on the showing of a
demonstrable need for services in the community. Certificate of need laws in some states apply to hospice
services. Many states with certificate of need requirements permit the transfer of a certificate of need from an
existing provider to a new provider. Our hospice programs in Tennessee and Arkansas are our only hospice
programs located in states that have a certificate of need law in effect; however, in the future we may seek to
develop or acquire hospice programs in other states that may have certificate of need laws. While several states
have abolished certificate of need laws, and other states do not apply them to hospice services, these laws
could affect our ability to expand services at our existing hospice programs or to make acquisitions or develop
hospices in new or existing geographic markets.

In addition, a few states have additional laws that restrict the development and expansion of hospice
programs. For example, Florida does not permit the operation of a hospice program by a for-profit corporation,
except in limited circumstances. Under Florida law, a for-profit hospice incorporated on or before July 1, 1978
is exempt from the restriction and may continue to operate as a for-profit hospice. In addition, under Florida
law an exempt hospice may transfer its operations and license to another for-profit entity. Under New York
law, a hospice cannot be owned by a corporation that has another corporation as a stockholder. These
additional state restrictions could affect our ability to expand into these states and other jurisdictions with
similar restrictions.

Overview of Government Payments

Substantially all of our net patient service revenue is attributable to payments received from the Medicare
and Medicaid programs. 97.5% and 97.0% of our net patient service revenue for the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2003, respectively, were attributable to Medicare and Medicaid payments. Payment from Medicare
and Medicaid is affected by budgetary pressures and is subject to changes in legislation and regulation. Our
revenues and profitability, similar to other healthcare companies, are subject to the effect of such legislative or
regulatory changes and to possible reductions in coverage or payment rates by private third-party payors.

As with most government programs, the Medicare and Medicaid programs are subject to statutory and
regulatory changes, possible retroactive and prospective rate adjustments, administrative rulings, and freezes
and funding reductions, all of which may adversely affect payments to us. Reductions or changes in Medicare
or Medicaid funding could significantly affect our results of operations. We cannot predict at this time whether
any additional healthcare reform initiatives will be implemented or whether other changes in the administra-
tion of governmental healthcare programs or interpretations of governmental policies or other changes
affecting the healthcare system will occur.

Medicarei Medicare pays us based on a prospective payment system under which we receive one of four
predetermined daily or hourly rates in which the Medicare beneficiary is under our care. As discussed below,
these rates are subject to annual adjustments for inflation and are also adjusted based on geographic location.
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The rate we receive from Medicare for a day of hospice care varies depending on which of the following four
levels of care is being furnished to the beneficiary:

+ Routine Home Care. We currently receive between $103.54 and $158.73 per day for routine home
care, depending on the geographic location. We are paid the routine home care rate for each day a
patient is under our care and not receiving one of the other categories of hospice care. This rate is not
adjusted for the volume or intensity of care provided on a given day. This rate is also paid when a
patient is receiving hospital care for a condition unrelated to the terminal condition. Routine home care
services accounted for 89.8% and 89.5% of our gross patient service revenue for 2002 and 2003,
respectively.

» General Inpatient Care. We currently receive between $465.03 and $693.76 per day for general
inpatient care, depending on the geographic location. General inpatient care services accounted for
8.3% and 8.7% of our gross patient service revenue for 2002 and 2003, respectively.

« Continuous Home Care. We currently receive between $604.32 and $926.47 per day for continuous
home care, depending on the geographic location. This daily continuous home care rate is divided by
24 in order to arrive at an hourly rate. The hourly rate is paid for every hour that continuous home care
is furnished, up to 24 hours in a single day. A minimum of eight hours must be provided in a single day
to qualify for this rate. Continuous home care services accounted for 0.8% and 0.6% of our gross patient
service revenue for 2002 and 2003, respectively.

+ Respite Care. We currently receive between $110.30 and $155.28 per day for respite care, depending
on the geographic location. Respite care is provided when the family or caregiver of a patient requires
temporary relief from his or her caregiving responsibilities for certain reasons. We can receive payment
for respite care provided to a given patient for up to five consecutive days. Our payment for any
additional days of respite care provided to the patient is limited to the routine home care rate. Respite
care services accounted for 0.2% of our gross patient service revenue for both 2002 and 2003.

The Medicare program has entered into contracts with managed care companies to provide a managed
care benefit to electing Medicare beneficiaries. These managed care programs are often referred to as
Medicare HMO programs or Medicare risk contracts. We provide hospice care to many Medicare benefi-
ciaries who participate in Medicare HMO programs. Under Medicare HMO programs, Medicare pays the
hospice directly. This direct payment reduces the per member per month payment otherwise receivable by the
managed care company. As a result, our payments for services provided to Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in
Medicare HMO programs are processed in the same way and at the same rates as those of other Medicare
beneficiaries.

Medicare limits the amount of payment we may receive for inpatient care services. Under the so-called
“80-20" rule, if the number of inpatient care days furnished by us to Medicare beneficiaries exceeds 20% of
the total days of hospice care furnished by us to Medicare beneficiaries, Medicare payments to us for inpatient
care days exceeding the inpatient cap will be reduced to the routine home care rate. This determination is
made annually based on the twelve month period beginning on November Ist of each year. This limit is
computed on a program-by-program basis. None of our hospices has exceeded the cap on inpatient care
services. However, we cannot assure you that one or more of our hospices will not exceed the inpatient cap in
the future.

Overall payments made by Medicare to us are also subject to a cap amount calculated by the Medicare
fiscal intermediary at the end of the hospice cap period. The hospice cap period runs from November 1st of
each year through October 31st of the following year. Total Medicare payments to us during this period are
compared to the cap amount for this period. Payments in excess of the cap amount must be returned by us to
Medicare. The cap amount is calculated by multiplying the number of beneficiaries electing hospice care
during the period by a statutory amount that is indexed for inflation annually. The cap amount was $18,661 for
the twelve-month period ending October 31, 2003. The cap amount for the twelve month period ending
October 31, 2004 has not been established by Medicare. Once published, the new cap amount will become
effective retroactively for all initial hospice elections performed since October 1, 2003. The hospice cap
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amount is computed on a program-by-program basis. Our net patient service revenue for 2003 was reduced by
$1.2 million as'a result of six of our hospice programs exceeding the Medicare cap. We cannot assure that
additional hospices will not exceed the cap amount in the future.

Direct patient care physician services delivered by physicians contracted with us are billed separately by
us to the Medicare intermediary and paid at the lesser of the actual charge or 100% of the Medicare allowable
charge for thes¢ services. This payment is in addition to the daily rates we receive for hospice care. Payment
for our contractual physicians’ administrative and general supervisory activities are included in the daily
payment rates discussed above. Payments for a patient’s attending physician’s professional services, other than
services furnished by physicians contracted with us, are not paid to us, but rather are paid directly to the
attending physician by the Medicare carrier based on the Medicare physician fee schedule. Physician services
represented 0.5% of our net patient service revenue for both 2002 and 2003.

Medicare fiscal intermediaries periodically conduct focused medical reviews and other audits on our
claims. Medicare fiscal intermediaries have recently increased their review of claims for hospice patients with
non-cancer diagnoses. Focused medical reviews and other audits of our hospice programs could result in
material recoupments or denials of claims. Further, Medicare payments for hospice services may not continue
to remain at their current levels or keep pace with the costs of providing hospice services.

The Balanced Budget Act of 1997 made changes in Medicare coverage of and payment for hospice care
services. The law reduced the amount of anticipated increases in Medicare payments for hospice services by
setting the payment rate increases at the “‘market basket” inflation rate minus one percentage point for each of
the Medicare fiscal years 1998 through 2002. The Medicare fiscal year begins on October 1 of each year and
runs through September 30 of the following year. In addition, the Balanced Budget Act of 1997 requires us to
file annual cost reports with the Department of Health and Human Services on each of our hospice programs
for informational purposes. The Balanced Budget Act of 1997 also requires us to submit claims on the basis of
the location where we actually furnish the hospice services. The purpose of this requirement is to adjust
payment rates for regional differences in wage costs.

On October 1, 2002 and 2003, the base Medicare payment rates for hospice care increased by
approximately 3.4% over the base rates previously in effect. The new Medicare daily rates for October 1, 2002
and 2003 were ifurther adjusted by the hospice wage index.

In May 2002, the Medicare Payment Advisory Commission issued its report to Congress assessing
Medicare beneficiaries’ access to and use of the hospice benefit. The Medicare Payment Advisory Commis-
sion recommended that the hospice payment rates be reviewed to insure that they are consistent with the costs
of providing hospice care, including whether a case-mix adjusted payment system and outlier policy should be
incorporated into the Medicare hospice payment system.

Medicare Six-Month Eligibility Rule. In order for a Medicare beneficiary to qualify for the Medicare
hospice benefit, two physicians must certify that the beneficiary has less than six months to live, assuming the
disease runs it normal course in the best judgment of the physician or medical director. In addition, the
Medicare beneficiary must affirmatively elect hospice care and waive any rights to other Medicare benefits
related to the beneficiary’s terminal illness. Each benefit period, a physician must recertify that the Medicare
beneficiary’s life expectancy is six months or less in order for the beneficiary to continue to qualify for and to
receive the Medicare hospice benefit. The first and second benefit periods are measured at 90-day intervals
and subsequent benefit periods are measured at 60-day intervals. The Medicare, Medicaid and SCHIP (State
Childrens’ Health Insurance Program) Benefits Improvement and Protection Act of 2000 provides that the
physician certification of a Medicare beneficiary’s eligibility for the Medicare hospice benefit is based on the
physician’s clinical judgment regarding the normal course of the individual’s illness. There is no limit on the
number of periods that a Medicare beneficiary may be recertified. A Medicare beneficiary may revoke his or
her election at anytime and resume receiving regular Medicare benefits.

Increased regulatory scrutiny of compliance with the Medicare six-month eligibility rule has impacted
the hospice industry. CMS, however, reafirmed that Medicare hospice beneficiaries are not limited to six
months of coverage and that there is no limit on how long a Medicare beneficiary can continue to receive

18




hospice benefits and services, provided that the beneficiary continues to meet the eligibility criteria under the
Medicare hospice program.

Medicaid. State Medicaid programs are another source of net patient service revenue. Medicaid is a
state-administered program financed by state funds and matching federal funds to provide medical assistance
to the indigent and certain other eligible persons. In 1986, hospice services became an optional state Medicaid
benefit. For those states that elect to provide a hospice benefit, Medicaid is required to pay us rates that are at
least equal to the hospice rates paid by Medicare. For our patients receiving nursing home care under a state
Medicaid program who elect hospice care under Medicare or Medicaid, the state must pay us, in addition to
the applicable Medicare or Medicaid hospice per diem rate, an amount equal to at least 95% of the Medicaid
per diem nursing home rate for “room and board” furnished to the patient by the nursing home. We contract
with various nursing homes for the nursing homes’ provision of certain “room and board” services that the
nursing homes would otherwise provide Medicaid nursing home patients. We bill and collect from the
applicable state Medicaid program an amount equal to at least 95% of the amount that would otherwise have
been paid directly to the nursing home under the state’s Medicaid plan. Under our standard nursing home
contracts, we pay the nursing home for these “room and board” services at the Medicaid per diem nursing
home rate. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Expenses.” ‘

Other Healthcare Regulations

Fraud and Abuse Laws. Provisions of the Social Security Act, commonly referred to as the fraud and
abuse provisions, prohibit the filing of false or fraudulent claims with Medicare or Medicaid and the payment
or receipt of any form of remuneration in return for the referral of Medicare or Medicaid patients or arranging
for the referral of patients, or in return for the recommendation, arrangement, purchase, lease or order of items
or services that are covered by Medicare or Medicaid programs. Violation of these provisions could constitute
a felony criminal offense and applicable sanctions include imprisonment of up to five years, criminal fines of
up to $25,000, civil money penalties of up to $50,000 per act plus three times the amount claimed or three
times the remuneration offered and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Many states have
adopted similar prohibitions against payments that are intended to induce referrals of Medicaid and other
third-party payor patients. The Office of Inspector General, Department of Health and Human Services
(“OIG”), has published numerous “safe harbors” that exempt some practices from enforcement action under
the federal fraud and abuse laws. These safe harbors exempt specified activities, including bona fide
employment relationships, some contracts for the rental of space or equipment, and some personal service
arrangements and management contracts. While the failure to satisfy all of the requirements of a particular
safe harbor does not necessarily mean that the arrangement is unlawful, arrangements that do not satisfy a
particular safe harbor may be subject to scrutiny by the OIG.

We are required under the Medicare conditions of participation and some state licensing laws to contract
with numerous healthcare providers and practitioners, including physicians, hospitals and nursing homes, and
to arrange for these individuals or entities to provide services to our patients. In addition, we have contracts
with other suppliers, including pharmacies, ambulance services and medical equipment companies. Some of
these individuals or entities may refer, or be in a position to refer, patients to us, and we may refer, or be in a
position to refer, patients to these individuals or entities. These arrangements may not qualify for a safe harbor.
We believe that our contracts and arrangements with providers, practitioners and suppliers are not in violation
of applicable fraud and abuse laws. We cannot assure you, however, that these laws will ultimately be
interpreted in a manner consistent with our practices.

From time to time, various federal and state agencies, such as the Department of Human Services, issue
a variety of pronouncements, including fraud alerts, the Office of Inspector General’s Annual Work Plan and
other reports, identifying practices that may be subject to heightened scrutiny. For example, in March 1998,
the OIG issued a special fraud alert titled “Fraud and Abuse in Nursing Home Arrangements with Hospices.”
This special fraud alert focused on payments received by nursing homes from hospices.
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We believe that we are in material compliance with all applicable federal and state fraud and abuse laws.
However, we cannot assure that these laws will not be interpreted in the future in such a way as to cause us to
be in violation of these laws.

HIPAA Fraud and Abuse Provisions. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
(“HIPAA”) broadened the application of the federal fraud and abuse provisions beyond the Medicare and
Medicaid programs. An amendment included in HIPAA extended the federal fraud and abuse provisions’
prohibitions to all “federal healthcare programs,” which include all state healthcare programs receiving federal
funding but exclude the federal Employees Health Benefit Program. Additionally, HIPAA created five new
categories of criminal federal offenses that apply to all healthcare benefit programs regardless of whether such
programs are funded in whole or in part with federal funds. The five new categories of federal offenses created
by HIPAA are healthcare fraud, theft or embezzlement in connection with healthcare, false statements
relating to healthcare matters, obstruction of criminal investigations of healthcare offenses, and money
laundering. Violations of these provisions constitute felony criminal offenses and applicable sanctions include
imprisonment and/or substantial monetary fines.

Civil Monetary Penalties Statute. The federal civil monetary penalties statute prohibits any person or
entity from knowingly submitting false or fraudulent claims, offering to or making payments to a beneficiary to
induce the beneficiary to use a particular provider or supplier, or arranging or contracting with an individual or
entity that the person or entity knows or should know is excluded from the Medicare or Medicaid programs for
the provision of items or services that may be reimbursed, in whole or in part, by the Medicare or Medicaid
programs. Violations can result in civil monetary penalties ranging from $10,000 to $50,000 per claim or act,
plus damages of not more than three times the amount claimed for each such item or service.

False Claiins Act.  In addition to federal fraud and abuse laws, under separate statutes, the submission of
claims for items and services that are “not provided as claimed” may lead to civil money penalties, criminal
fines and imprisonment, and/or exclusion from participation in federally funded healthcare programs,
including the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These false claims statutes include the Federal False Claims
Act. Under the Federal False Claims Act, in addition to actions being initiated by the federal government, a
private party may bring an action on behalf of the federal government. These private parties are often referred
to as qui tam relators, and are entitled to share in any amounts recovered by the government. Both direct
enforcement activity by the government and qui tam actions have increased significantly in recent years and
have increased the risk that a healthcare company, like us, will have to defend a false claims action, pay fines
or be excluded from the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs as a result of an investigation arising out of this
type of an action. Many states have enacted similar laws providing for the imposition of civil and criminal
penalties for the filing of fraudulent claims. Because of the complexity of the government regulations
applicable to our industry, we cannot assure that we will not be the subject of an action under the False Claims
Act or similar state law.

The Stark Law and State Physician Self-Referral Laws. Section 1877 of the Social Security Act,
commonly known as the “Stark Law,” prohibits physicians, subject to the exceptions described below, from
referring Medicare or Medicaid patients to any entity providing “designated health services” in which the
physician has an ownership or investment interest or with which the physician has entered into a compensation
arrangement. Persons who violate the Stark Law are subject to civil monetary penalties and exclusion from the
Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Hospice care is not specifically enumerated as a health service subject to this prohibition; however, some
of the ten designated health services under the Stark Law, including physical therapy, pharmacy services and
certain infusion: therapies, are among the specific services furnished by our hospices. Regulations interpreting
the Stark Law currently provide that investments by referring physicians in a hospice will not violate the Stark
Law. We cannot assure you, however, that future regulatory changes will not result in us becoming subject to
the Stark Law’s prohibition in the future.

Many states have also enacted physician self-referral laws, which generally prohibit financial relationships
with referral sources that are not limited to services for which Medicare or Medicaid payment may be made.
Similar penalties, including loss of license or eligibility to participate in government programs and civil and
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criminal fines, apply to violations of these state self-referral laws. These laws vary from state to state and have
seldom been interpreted by the courts or regulatory agencies. We believe that our relationships with physicians
do not violate these state self-referral laws. However, we cannot assure that these laws will not be interpreted
in the future in such a way as to call into question our relationships with physicians.

Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee-Splitting. Most states have laws that restrict or prohibit
unlicensed persons or business entities, including corporations, from employing physicians and/or prohibit
direct or indirect payments or fee-splitting arrangements between physicians and unlicensed persons or
business entities. Possible sanctions for violations of these restrictions include loss of a physician’s license, civil
and criminal penalties and rescission of business arrangements. These laws vary from state to state, are often
vague and have seldom been interpreted by the courts or regulatory agencies.

We contract with physicians to provide medical direction and patient care services. A state with these
prohibitions could determine that the provision of patient care services by our contracted physicians violates
the corporate practice of medicine and/or fee-splitting prohibitions. We structure our arrangements with
healthcare providers to comply with the relevant state law. However, we cannot assure you that government
officials charged with the responsibility for enforcing these laws will not assert that we, or transactions in which
we are involved, are in violation of these laws. These laws may also be interpreted by the courts in a manner
inconsistent with our interpretations. The determinations or interpretations by a state may require us to
restructure our arrangements with physicians in the applicable state.

Health Information Practices. The administrative simplification provisions of HIPAA contain provi-
sions that require many organizations, including us, to implement very significant, potentially expensive new
computer systems and business procedures designed to protect each patient’s individual healthcare informa-
tion. HIPAA requires the Department of Health and Human Services to issue rules to define and implement
patient privacy standards. Among the standards that the Department of Health and Human Services has or
will adopt pursuant to HIPAA are standards for the following:

« electronic transactions and code sets;

« unique identifiers for providers, employers, health plans and individuals;
* privacy;

* security and electronic signatures; and

+ enforcement.

On December 28, 2000, the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services published a final
rule establishing standards for the privacy of individually identifiable health information. The final rule
became effective on April 14, 2001, and compliance was required by April 14, 2003. These privacy standards
apply to all health plans, all healthcare clearinghouses and many healthcare providers, including healthcare
providers that transmit health information in an electronic form in connection with certain standard
transactions. We are a covered entity under the final rule. The privacy standards apply to protect individually
identifiable health information held or disclosed by a covered entity in any form, whether communicated
electronically, on paper or orally. These standards not only require our compliance with rules governing the use
and disclosure of protected health information, but they also require us to impose those rules, by contract, on
any business associate to whom such information is disclosed.

On February 20, 2003, the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services published a final
rule that establishes, in part, standards for the security of health information by health plans, healthcare
clearinghouses and healthcare providers that maintain or transmit any health information in electronic form,
regardless of format. The final rule became effective April 21, 2003, with a compliance date of April 21, 2005.
We are a covered entity under the final rule. These security standards require covered entities to establish and
maintain reasonable and appropriate administrative, technical and physical safeguards to ensure integrity,
confidentiality and availability of the information. The security standards were designed to protect health
information against reasonably anticipated threats or hazards to the security or integrity of the information and
to protect the information against unauthorized use or disclosure. Although the security standards do not
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reference or advocate a specific technology, and affected entities have the flexibility to choose their own
technical solutions, we expect that compliance with the security standards will require us to implement
significant systems and procedures.

A violation of these standards could result in civil monetary penalties of $100 per incident, up to a
maximum of $25,000 per person, per year, per standard. The final rule also provides for criminal penalties of
up to $50,000 and one year in prison for knowingly and improperly obtaining or disclosing protected health
information, up to $100,000 and five years in prison for obtaining protected health information under false
pretenses, and up to $250,000 and ten years in prison for obtaining or disclosing protected health information
with the intent to sell, transfer or use such information for commercial advantage, personal gain or malicious
harm.

Compliance with these standards has required significant commitment and action by us. We have
management in place to direct our compliance with these standards and we are now in compliance with the
privacy standards and the electronic transactions and code sets standards.

Additional Federal and State Laws. The federal government and all states also regulate other aspects of
the hospice industry. In particular, our operations are subject to federal and state laws covering professional
services, the dispensing of drugs and other types of hospice activities. Some of our employees are subject to
state laws and regulations governing the ethics and practice of medicine, respiratory therapy, pharmacy and
nursing. Our operations are subject to periodic survey by government entities to assure compliance with
applicable state licensing and Medicare and Medicaid certification, as the case may be. From time to time in
the ordinary course of business, we, like other healthcare companies, receive survey reports containing
deficiencies for alleged failure to comply with applicable requirements. We review these reports and take
appropriate corrective action. The failure to effect corrective action or to obtain, renew or maintain any of the
required regulatory approvals, certifications or licenses could materially adversely affect our business and could
prevent our hospice programs involved from offering services to patients. In addition, laws and regulations
often are adopted to regulate new products, services and industries. We cannot assure that either the states or
the federal government will not impose additional regulations upon our activities that might adversely affect
us. :

As a large employer, we are subject to various federal and state laws regulating employment practices.
We are specifically subject to audits by various federal and state agencies regarding our compliance with these
laws. We believe that our employment practices are in material compliance with applicable federal and state
laws. However, we cannot assure that government officials charged with the responsibility of enforcing these
laws will not assert that we are in violation of these laws, or that these laws will be interpreted by the courts in
a manner consistent with our interpretations.

A substantial number of hospice programs which could be potential acquisition targets for us are operated
by not-for-profit entities. Some states require government review, and in some cases approval, of transactions
in which a not-for-profit entity sells a healthcare facility or business. This increased scrutiny may increase the
difficulty in completing or prevent the completion of acquisitions in some states in the future. We have
acquired two not-for-profit hospice programs and did not encounter any substantial regulatory or governmental
obstacles to our acquisition or integration of those hospice programs. We cannot, however, assure that we will
not encounter regulatory or governmental obstacles in connection with our acquisition of not-for-profit
hospices in the future.

We maintain an internal corporate compliance program and from time to time retain regulatory counsel
for guidance on applicable laws and regulations. However, we cannot assure that our practices, if reviewed,
would be found ito be in compliance with applicable federal and state laws, as the laws ultimately may be
interpreted.
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Compliance and Continuous Quality Improvement Programs
We have a comprehensive company-wide compliance program. Our compliance program provides for:
« the appointment of a compliance officer and committee;
« adoption of a corporate code of business conduct and ethics;
» employee education and training;
» implementation of an internal system for feporting concerns on a confidential, anonymous basis;
+ ongoing internal auditing and monitoring programs; and
+ a means for enforcing the compliance programs policies.

As part of our ongoing internal auditing and monitoring programs, we conduct periodic, at least annual,
internal regulatory audits and mock surveys at each of our hospice programs. If a program does not achieve a
satisfactory rating, we require it to prepare and implement a plan of correction. We then perform a follow-up
audit and survey to verify that all deficiencies identified in the initial audit and survey have been corrected.

As required under the Medicare conditions of participation, we have a continuous quality improvement
program in place. Our continuous quality improvement program involves:

+ on-going education of staff and quarterly continuous quality improvement meetings at each of our
hospice programs and at our corporate office;

« quarterly comprehensive audits of patient chérts performed by each of our hospice programs; and

+ at least once a year, a comprehensive audit of patient charts performed on each of our hospice
programs by our corporate staff.

If a hospice program fails to achieve a satisfactory rating on a patient chart audit, we require the program
to prepare and implement a plan of correction. We then conduct a follow-up patient chart audit to verify that
appropriate action has been taken to prevent future deficiencies.

We continually expand and refine our compliance and continuous quality improvement programs.
Specific written policies, procedures, training and educational materials and programs, as well as auditing and
monitoring activities, have been prepared and implemented to address the functional and operational aspects
of our business. Our programs also address specific problem areas identified through regulatory interpretation
and enforcement activities. Qur policies, training, standardized documentation requirements, reviews and
audits also specifically address our financial arrangements with our referral sources, including fraud and abuse
laws and physician self-referral laws.

Competition

Hospice care in the United States is competitive. Because payments for hospice services are primarily
paid on a per diem basis, we compete primarily on our ability to deliver quality, responsive services. The
hospice care market is highly fragmented, and we compete with a large number of organizations, some of
which have or may obtain significantly greater financial and marketing resources than us. Based on industry
data, we estimate that approximately 72% of existing hospice programs are local not-for-profit programs. Most
hospice programs are small- and medium-sized programs.

We also compete with a number of national and regional hospice providers, including Vitas Healthcare
Corporation and VistaCare, Inc., hospitals, nursing homes, home health agencies and other healthcare
providers, including those with which we presently maintain contractual relationships, that offer hospice
and/or palliative care services. Many of them offer home care to patients who are terminally ill, and some
actively market palliative care and “‘hospice-like” programs. In addition, various healthcare companies have
diversified into the hospice market. For example, Beverly Enterprises, Inc. and Manor Care, Inc. compete
with us in some of our markets.
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Relatively few barriers to entry exist in the markets served by us. Accordingly, other companies that are
not currently providing hospice care may enter these markets and expand the variety of services offered.

Insurance

We maintain primary general and professional liability coverage on a claims made and company-wide
basis with limits of $1.0 million per occurrence and $3.0 million in the aggregate. In addition, we maintain
umbrella coverage on a claims made and company-wide basis with a limit of $20.0 million. While we believe
that our insurance coverage is adequate for our current operations, we cannot assure that our coverage will
cover all future! claims or will be available in adequate amounts or at a reasonable cost.

Our current general and professional liability policy does not provide coverage for claims that arise from
acts that occurred prior to the policy’s start date of April 12, 2000. From March 12, 1999 to April 12, 2000,
Reliance National Insurance Company provided our insurance coverage. Since April 12, 2000, Lexington
Insurance Company, a subsidiary of American International Group, Inc., has provided our insurance coverage.
During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Insurance Commissioner of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania placed
Reliance National Insurance Company in liquidation. Based on our estimation of open claims, we are
maintaining a reserve to cover potential losses resulting from current and future litigation claims covered by
Reliance National Insurance Company to the extent its assets are not sufficient to pay such claims. Although
we believe that the amount reserved is adequate to cover our potential losses, there can be no assurance that
our losses will not exceed the amount reserved. Our profitability will be negatively impacted to the extent our
actual losses exceed the amount reserved.

Employees

As of Febri;ary 15, 2004, we had 3,167 full-time employees and 737 part-time employees. None of our
employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We believe that our relations with our employees
are good. ‘

Some Risks Related to Our Business

An investment in our common stock is subject to the significant risks inherent in our business. Readers
should consider icarefully the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The occurrence of any of the events described below could have a material
adverse effect on our business. This could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline, perhaps
significantly.

We are highly dependent on payments from Medicare and Medicaid. If there are changes in the rates or
methods governing these payments for our services, our net patient service revenue and profits could
materially decline.

We are highly dependent on payments from Medicare and Medicaid. Approximately 97.2%, 97.5% and
97.0% of our net.patient service revenue for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively,
consisted of payments, paid primarily on a per diem basis, from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
Because we generally receive fixed payments for our hospice care services based on the level of care provided
to our hospice patients, we are at risk for the cost of services provided to our hospice patients. Reductions in
amounts paid by government programs for our services or changes in methods or regulations governing
payments could cause our net patient service revenue and profits to materially decline.

Overall payments made by Medicare to us are subject to a cap amount calculated by the Medicare fiscal
intermediary at the end of the hospice cap period. The hospice cap period runs from November Ist of each
year through October 31st of the following year. Total Medicare payments to us during this period are
compared to the cap amount for this period. Payments in excess of the cap amount must be returned by us to
Medicare. The cap amount is calculated by multiplying the number of beneficiaries electing hospice care
during the period by a statutory amount that is indexed for inflation. The cap amount was $18,661 for the
twelve-month period ending October 31, 2003. The cap amount for the twelve month period ending
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October 31, 2004 has not been established by Medicare. Once published, the new cap amount will become
effective retroactively for all services performed since November 1, 2003. The hospice cap amount is
computed on a program-by-program. Our net patient service revenue for 2003 was reduced by approximately
$1.2 million as a result of six of our hospice programs exceeding the Medicare cap. Our ability to comply with
this limitation depends on a number of factors relating to a given hospice program, including the rate at which
our patient census increases, the average length of stay and mix in level of care. Our revenue and profitability
may be materially reduced if we are unable to comply with this and other Medicare payment limitations. We
cannot assure that additional hospices will not exceed the cap amount in the future.

We operate in an industry that is subject to extensive federal, state and local vegulation, and changes in
law and regulatory interpretations could reduce our net patient service vevenue and profitability.

The healthcare industry is subject to extensive federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations relating
to, among others:

« payment for services;

« conduct of operations, including fraud and abuse, anti-kickback prohibitions, physician self-referral
prohibitions and false claims;

e privacy and security of medical records;
» employment practices; and

» facility and professional licensure, including certificates of need, surveys, certification and recertifica-
tion requirements, and corporate practice of medicine prohibitions.

In recent years, Congress and some state legislatures have introduced an increasing number of proposals
to make significant changes in the healthcare system. Changes in law and regulatory interpretations could
reduce our net patient service revenue and profitability.

Recently, there have been heightened coordinated civil and criminal enforcement efforts by both federal
and state government agencies relating to the healthcare industry. There has also been an increase in the filing
of actions by private individuals on behalf of the federal government against healthcare companies alleging the
filing of false or fraudulent Medicare or Medicaid claims. This heightened enforcement activity increases our
potential exposure to damaging lawsuits, investigations and other enforcement actions. Any such action could
distract our management and adversely affect our business reputation and profitability.

In the future, different interpretations or enforcement of laws, rules and regulations governing the
healthcare industry could subject our current business practices to allegations of impropriety or illegality or
could require us to make changes in our facilities, equipment, personnel, services and capital expenditure
programs, increase our operating expenses and distract our management. If we fail to comply with these
extensive laws and government regulations, we could become ineligible to receive government program
payments, suffer civil and criminal penalties or be required to make significant changes to our operations. In
addition, we could be forced to expend considerable resources responding to an investigation or other
enforcement action under these laws or regulations. For a more detailed discussion of the regulatory
environment in which we operate, see “— Government Regulation.”

Almost half of our hospice patients reside in nursing homes. Changes in the laws and regulations
regarding payments for hospice services and “room and board” provided to our hospice patients residing
in nursing homes could reduce our ner patient service revenue and profitability,

For our hospice patients receiving nursing home care under certain state Medicaid programs who elect
hospice care under Medicare or Medicaid, the state must pay us, in addition to the applicable Medicare or
Medicaid hospice per diem rate, an amount equal to at least 95% of the Medicaid per diem nursing home rate
for “room and board” furnished to the patient by the nursing home. We contract with various nursing homes
for the nursing homes’ provision of certain “room and board” services that the nursing homes would otherwise
provide Medicaid nursing home patients. We bill and collect from the applicable state Medicaid program an
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amount equal to at least 95% of the amount that would otherwise have been paid directly to the nursing home
under the state’s Medicaid plan. Under our standard nursing home contracts, we pay the nursing home for
these “room and board” services at 100% of the Medicaid per diem nursing home rate.

Government studies conducted in the last several years have suggested that the reimbursement levels for
hospice patients living in nursing homes may be excessive. In particular, the federal government has expressed
concern that hospice programs may provide fewer services to patients residing in nursing homes than to
patients living iin other settings due to the presence of the nursing home’s own staff to address problems that
might otherwise be handled by hospice personnel. Because hospice programs are paid a fixed per diem
amount, regardless of the volume or duration of services provided, the government is concerned that hospice
programs may be increasing their profitability by shifting the cost of certain patient care services to the nursing
home. :

The reduction or elimination of Medicare payments for hospice patients residing in nursing homes would
significantly reduce our net patient service revenue and profitability. In addition, changes in the way nursing
homes are reimbursed for “room and board” services provided to hospice patients residing in nursing homes
could affect our ability to obtain referrals from nursing homes. A reduction in referrals from nursing homes
would adversely affect our net patient service revenue and profitability.

If we are unable to maintain relationships with existing patient referral sources or to establish new
referral sources, our growth and profitability could be adversely affected.

Our success is heavily dependent on referrals from physicians, nursing homes, assisted living facilities,
adult care centers, hospitals, managed care companies, insurance companies and other patient referral sources
in the communities that our hospice locations serve, as well as on our ability to maintain good relations with
these referral sources. Our referral sources are not contractually obligated to refer hospice patients to us and
may refer their patients to other hospice care providers, or not at all. Our growth and profitability depend
significantly on our ability to provide good patient and family care, to establish and maintain close working
relationships with these patient referral sources and to increase awareness and acceptance of hospice care by
our referral sources and their patients. We cannot assure that we will be able to maintain our existing referral
source relationships or that we will be able to develop and maintain new relationships in existing or new
markets. Qur loss of existing relationships or our failure to develop new relationships could adversely affect our
ability to expand our operations and operate profitably. Moreover, we cannot assure that awareness or
acceptance of hospice care will increase. ‘

Our growth sirategy to develop new hospice locations in new and existing markets may not be successful,
which could adversely impact our growth and profitability.

A significant element of our growth strategy is expansion of our business by developing new hospice
programs in new markets and growth in our existing markets. This aspect of our growth strategy may not be
successful, which could adversely impact our growth and profitability. We cannot assure that we will be able
to:

+ identify markets that meet our selection criteria for new hospice progra'ms;

¢ hire and retain a qualified management team to operate each of our new hospice programs;

» manage a large and geographically diverse group of hospice programs;

» become Medicare and Medicaid certified in new markets;

« transfer provider numbers between hospice programs in a timely manner;

+ generate sufficient hospice admissions in new markets to operate profitably in these new markets; or

« compete effectively with existing programs in new markets.
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" Our growth strategy to acquire other hospices may not be successful and the integration of future
acquisitions may be difficult and disruptive to our ongoing business.

In addition to growing existing programs and developing new hospice programs, an element of our growth
strategy is expansion through the acquisition of other hospice programs. We cannot assure that our acquisition
strategy will be successful. The success of our acquisition strategy is dependent upon a number of factors,
including:

« our ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates;

*» our ability to negotiate favorable acquisition terms, including purchase price, which may be adversely
affected due to increased competition with other buyers;

+ the availability of financing on terms favorable to us, or at all;

» our ability to integrate effectively the systems and operations of acquired hospices;
« ‘our ability to retain key personnel of acquired hospices; and

+ our ability to obtain required regulatory approvals.

Acquisitions involve a number of other risks, including diversion of management’s attention from other
business concerns and the assumption of known or unknown liabilities of acquired hospices, including
liabilities for failure to comply with healthcare laws and regulations. The integration of acquired hospices may
place significant strains on our current operating and financial systems and controls. We may not successfully
overcome these risks or any other problems encountered in connection with our acquisition strategy.

An estimated 72% of hospice programs in the United States are not-for-profit programs. Accordingly, it is
likely that a substantial number of acquisition opportunities may involve hospices operated by not-for-profit
entities. In recent years, several states have increased review and oversight of transactions involving the sale of
healthcare facilities by not-for-profit entities. Although the level of review varies from state to state, the
current trend is to provide for increased governmental review, and in some cases approval, of transactions in
which a not-for-profit entity sells a healthcare facility or business. This increased scrutiny may increase the
difficulty in completing, or prevent the completion of, acquisitions in some states in the future.

Our loss of key management personnel or our inability to hive and retain skilled employees could
adversely affect our business and our ability to increase patient refervals.

Our future success depends, in significant part, upon the continued service of our senior management
personnel. The loss of services of one or more of our key senior management personnel or our inability to hire
and retain new skilled employees could adversely affect our future operating results. In addition, the loss of key
community education representatives could negatively impact our ability to maintain or increase patient
referrals, a key aspect of our growth strategy.

As we previously disclosed in our earnings release in February 2003, as part of our CEO succession plan,
David C. Gasmire, President and former Chief Operating Officer, has been promoted to the position of
President and Chief Executive Officer, effective January 1, 2004. Richard R. Burnham, Chairman of the
Board and former Chief Executive Officer, will continue as Chairman of the Board. During 2003, with the
assistance of Mr. Burnham, Mr. Gasmire began the orderly transition to Chief Executive Officer as part of our
CEO succession plan. We do not expect Mr. Gasmire’s and Mr. Burnham’s changing management roles to
have any adverse affect on our future operating results. Deborah Hoffpauir, former Senior Vice President of
Operations, has been promoted to the position of Chief Operating Officer.

Competition for skilled employees is intense, and the process of locating and recruiting skilled employees
with the combination of qualifications and attributes required to care effectively for terminally ill patients and
their families can be difficult and Iengthy. We cannot assure that we will be successful in attracting, retaining
or training highly skilled nursing, management, community education, operations, admissions and other
personnel. Our business could be disrupted and our growth and profitability negatively impacted if we are
unable to attract and retain skilled employees.
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A nationwide shortage of qualified nurses could adversely affect our profitability and our ability to grow
and continue to provide quality, responsive hospice services to our patients as nursing wages and benefits
increase.

We currently employ approximately 900 full-time nurses and 400 part-time nurses. We depend on
qualified nurses to provide quality, responsive hospice services to our patients. There is currently a nationwide
shortage of qualified nurses that is being felt in some of the markets in which we provide hospice services,
primarily in California. In response to the shortage of qualified nurses in these markets, we have increased and
are likely to continue to increase our wages and benefits to recruit and retain nurses or to engage contract
nurses until we hire permanent staff nurses. Our inability to attract and retain qualified nurses could adversely
affect our ability to provide quality, responsive hospice services to our patients and our ability to increase
patient census in those markets. In addition, because we operate in a fixed reimbursement environment,
increases in the wages and benefits that we must provide to attract and retain qualified nurses or an increase in
our reliance on contract nurses could negatively impact our profitability.

Medical reviews and audits by governmental and private payors could vesult in material payment
recoupments and payments denials, which could negatively impact our business.

Medicare fiscal intermediaries and other payors periodically conduct pre-payment or post-payment
medical reviews or other audits of our reimbursement claims. In order to conduct these reviews, the payor
requests documentation from us and then reviews that documentation to determine compliance with
applicable rules and regulations, including the eligibility of patients to receive hospice benefits, the
appropriateness of the care provided to those patients, and the documentation of that care. We cannot predict
whether medical reviews or similar audits by federal or state agencies or commercial payors of our hospice
programs’ reimbursement claims will result in material recoupments or denials, which could have a material
adverse effect on: our financial condition and results of operations.

If any of our hospice programs fails to comply with the Medicare conditions of participation, that
program could be terminated from Medicare hospice reimbursement, thereby adversely affecting our net
patient service revenue and profitability.

Each of our hospice programs must comply with the extensive conditions of participation of the Medicare
hospice reimbursement benefit. If any of our hospice programs fails to meet any of the Medicare conditions of
participation, that program may receive a notice of deficiency from the applicable state surveyor. If that
hospice program then fails to institute a plan of correction and correct the deficiency within the correction
period provided by the state surveyor, that program could be terminated from receiving Medicare reimburse-
ment. For example, under Medicare hospice program, each of our hospice programs must demonstrate that
volunteers provide administrative and direct patient care services in an amount equal to at least five percent of
the total patient care hours provided by our employees and contract staff at the hospice program. If we are
unable to attract a sufficient number of volunteers at one of our hospice programs to meet this requirement,
that program could be terminated from the Medicare benefit if the program fails to address the deficiency
within the applicable correction period. Any termination of one or more of our hospice programs from
Medicare reimbursement for failure to satisfy the volunteer or other conditions of participation could adversely
affect our net patient service revenue and profitability.

Many states haye certificate of need laws or other regulatory provisions that may adversely impact our
ability to expand into new markets and thereby limit our ability to grow and to increase our net patient
service revenue.

Many states have enacted certificate of need laws that require prior state approval to open new healthcare
facilities or expand services at existing facilities. Currently, the states of Arkansas, Florida, Hawaii, Kentucky,
Maryland, New York, North Carolina, Tennessee, Vermont, Washington and West Virginia have certificate of
need laws that apply to hospices. Of these states, we currently operate in Arkansas and Tennessee. Florida and
New York have additional barriers to entry. Florida places restrictions on the ability of for-profit corporations
to own and operate hospices, and New York places restrictions on the corporate ownership of hospices.
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Accordingly, our ability to operate in Fiorida and New York is restricted. These laws could affect our ability to
expand into new markets and to expand our services and facilities in existing markets.

We may not be able to compete successfully against other hospice providers, and competitive pressures
may limit our ability to maintain or increase our market position and adversely affect our profitability.

Hospice care in the United States is competitive. In many areas in which our hospice programs are
located, we compete with a large number of organizations, including:

» community-based hospice providers;

« national and regional companies;

« hospital-based hospice and palliative care programs;
¢ nursing homes; and

« home health agencies.

Some of our current and potential competitors have or may obtain significantly greater financial and
marketing resources than us. Various healthcare companies have diversified into the hospice market. For
example, a few large healthcare providers, including Beverly Enterprises, Inc. and Manor Care, Inc., have
entered the hospice business directly or through affiliates. Relatively few barriers to entry exist in our local
markets. Accordingly, other companies, including hospitals and other healthcare organizations that are not
currently providing hospice care, may expand their services to include it. We may encounter increased
competition in the future that could negatively impact patient referrals to us, limit our ability to maintain or
increase our market position and adversely affect our profitability.

If our costs were to increase morve rapidly than the fixed payment adjustments we receive for our hospice
services from Medicare and Medicaid, our profitability could be negatively impacted.

We generally receive fixed payments for our hospice services based on the level of care we provide to
patients and their families. Accordingly, our profitability is largely dependent on our ability to manage costs of
providing hospice services. Medicare and Medicaid currently provide for an annual adjustment of the various
hospice payment rates based on the increase or decrease of the medical care expenditure category of the
Consumer Price Index; however, the increases have usually been less than actual inflation. If this adjustment
were eliminated or reduced, or if our costs of providing hospice services, over one-half of which consist of labor
costs, increased more than the annual adjustment, our profitability could be negatively impacted. In addition,
cost pressures resulting from shorter patient lengths of stay and the use of more expensive forms of palliative
care, including drugs and drug delivery systems, could negatively impact our profitability.

New federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to patient privacy could require us to
expend substantial sums on acquiring and implementing new information systems, which could
negatively impact our profitability.

There are currently numerous legislative and regulatory initiatives at both the state and federal levels that
address patient privacy concerns. In particular, HIPAA contains provisions that may require us to implement
expensive new computer systems and business procedures designed to protect the privacy and security of each
of our patient’s individual health information. The Department of Health and Human Services published final
regulations addressing patient privacy on December 28, 2000 and final regulations addressing the security of
such health information on February 20, 2003. We have complied with the requirements of the privacy
regulations and must comply with the requirements of the security regulations by April 21, 2005. Because the
final security regulations have only recently been issued, we cannot predict the total financial or other impact
of the regulations on our operations. Compliance with these rules could require us to spend substantial sums,
which could negatively impact our profitability.
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Our net patient service revenue and profitability may be constrained by cost containment initiatives
undertaken by insurers and managed care companies.

Initiatives undertaken by insurers and managed care companies to contain healthcare costs affect the
profitability of our hospice programs. We have a number of contractual arrangements with insurers and
managed care companies for providing hospice care for a fixed fee. These payors attempt to control healthcare
costs by contracting with hospices and other healthcare providers to obtain services on a discounted basis, We
believe that this trend may continue and may limit payments for healthcare services, including hospice
services. In addition, future changes in Medicare related to Medicare HMO programs could result in managed
care companies becoming financially responsible for providing hospice care. If such changes were to occur,
managed care companies could be responsible for payments to us out of their Medicare payments, and a
greater percentage of our net patient service revenue could come from managed care companies. As managed
care companies -attempt to control hospice-related costs, they could reduce payments to us for hospice
services. These developments could negatively impact our net patient service revenue and profitability.

A significant veduction in the carrying value of our goodwill could have a material adverse effect on our
" profitability.

A significant portion of our total assets consists of intangible assets, primarily goodwill. Goodwill
accounted for approximately 37.1% of our total assets as of December 31, 2003. Any event that results in the
significant impairment of our goodwill, such as closure of a hospice program or sustained operating losses,
could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.

Professional and general liability claims may have an adverse effect on us either because our insurance
coverage may be inadequate to cover the losses or because claims against us, regardless of merit or
eventual outcome, may adversely affect our reputation, our ability to obtain patient referrals or our
ability to expand our business.

In recent years, participants in the healthcare industry have become subject to an increasing number of
lawsuits, including allegations of medical malpractice. Many of these lawsuits involve large claims and
substantial defense costs. From time to time, we are subject to these types of lawsuits. While we maintain
professional and general liability insurance, some risks and liabilities, including claims for punitive damages,
are not covered by insurance. In addition, we cannot assure that our coverage will be adequate to cover
potential losses. While we have been able to obtain liability insurance in the past, insurance can be expensive
and may not be available in the future on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Claims, regardless of their merit or
eventual outcome, may also adversely affect our reputation, our ability to obtain patient referrals or our ability
to expand our business, as well as divert management resources from the operation of our business.

Our current general and professional liability policy does not provide coverage for claims that arise from
acts that occurred prior to the policy’s start date of April 12, 2000. From March 12, 1999 to April 12, 2000,
Reliance National Insurance Company provided our insurance coverage. Since April 12, 2000, Lexington
Insurance Company, a subsidiary of American International Group, Inc., has provided our insurance coverage.
During the fourth:quarter of 2001, the Insurance Commissioner of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania placed
Reliance National Insurance Company in liquidation. Based on our estimation of open claims, we are
maintaining a reserve to cover potential losses resulting from current and future litigation claims covered by
Reliance National Insurance Company to the extent its assets are not sufficient to pay such claims. Although
we believe that the amount reserved is adequate to cover our potential losses, there can be no assurance that
our losses will noti exceed the amount reserved. Our profitability will be negatively impacted to the extent our
actual losses exceed the amount reserved.

We may need additional capital to fund our operations and finance our growth, and we may not be able
to obtain it on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

We expect that our existing funds, cash flows from operations and borrowings under our credit agreement
will be sufficient to fund our working capital needs, anticipated hospice development and acquisition plans,
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debt service requirements and other anticipated capital requirements for at least 12 months following the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Continued expansion of our business through the development of new
hospice programs and acquisitions may require additional capital, in particular if we were to accelerate our
hospice program development and acquisition plans. In the past, we have relied on funds raised through our
initial public offering and private issuances of debt and equity and also through bank financing and cash flows
from operations to support our growth. In the future, required financing may not be available or may be
available only on terms that are not favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds, we may have to
delay or abandon some or all of our growth strategies. Further, if additional funds are raised through the
issuance of additional equity securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders would be diluted. Any
new equity securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our common stock.

Provisions in our charter documents, under Delaware law, and in our stockholder vights plan could
discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that
a stockholder may consider favorable because they:

+ authorize the issuance by the board of directors of preferred stock without the requirement of
stockholder approval, which could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our
outstanding voting stock;

+ provide for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;
+ prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;

+ prohibit our stockholders from acting by written consent;

+ limit the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;

+ prohibit our stockholders from amending our bylaws unless the amendment is approved by the holders
of at least 80% of our shares of common stock; and

+ establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for
proposing matters to be approved by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, our certificate of incorporation prohibits the amendment by our stockholders of many
provisions of our certificate of incorporation unless the amendment is approved by the holders of at least 80%
of our shares of common stock.

Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us. Under
Delaware law, a corporation may not engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its
capital stock until the holder has held the stock for three years unless, among other possibilities, the board of
directors approves the transaction. Our board of directors could use this provision to prevent or delay
takeovers.

In addition, purchase rights distributed under our stockholder rights plan will cause substantial dilution to
any person or group that attempts to acquire us without conditioning the offer on our redemption of the rights.

These provisions could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change of
control transaction. As a result, they may limit the price investors may be willing to pay for our stock in the
future.

Available Information

We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We are a reporting company
and file an Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K
when necessary. The public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on
the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an
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Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers
that file electronically with the SEC. That website address is http://www.sec.gov. Our Internet address is
www.odsyhealth.com. We make available free of charge on our Internet website our Annual Report on Form
10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

Our code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers and employees, our corporate governance
guidelines and our committee charters, including the audit committee and compensation committee, are all
available on our website and are available in print to any stockholder upon request.

Item 2. Properties

Our executive offices are located at 717 N. Harwood, Suite 1500, Dallas, Texas 75201, where we
currently lease approximately 70,000 square feet of space. We believe that these facilities are adequate for our
current uses and that additional space is available to accommodate our anticipated growth. Our 68 hospice
programs, including 6 inpatient units, and 7 hospice programs under development are in leased facilities in 29
states with varying terms from one to ten years extending through 2013. We believe these facilities are in good
operating condition and suitable for their intended purposes. Refer to “Item 1. Business — Hospice Offices
and Inpatient Facilities” for a complete listing of the locations of our hospice offices and inpatient facilities.

Item 3. Legal |Proceedings

From time o time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the
normal course of business. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not aware of any legal
proceedings pending or threatened that we expect would have a material adverse effect on us.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stockholders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise,
during the quarter ended December 31, 2003.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market for Common Stock. Our common stock has been quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under
the symbol “ODSY” since October 31, 2001. Prior to that time there was no public market for our common
stock. As of March 2, 2004, there were 33 record holders of our common stock. The following table sets forth
the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock for the period indicated, as reported on the
Nasdaq National Market and as adjusted to take into account the February 24, 2003 and August 12, 2003 fifty
percent stock dividends:

_High ~_Low

2002
First Quarter. ... ... $ 907 $ 666
Second QUATTET ...\t $10.90 §$ 7.85
Third QUATTET . . o\ttt e et $10.66 $ 6.30
Fourth Quarter. . ... ... i e $11.64 § 8.64

2003
First QuUarter. ..o $16.94 $13.47
Second QUATETr .. ... $24.67 $15.22
Third QUATIET . ..ottt et e $34.84 $24.16
Fourth QUarter . ... ... . e $37.35  $27.00

Dividends. On January 27, 2003, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a three-for-two
stock split payable in the form of a fifty percent stock dividend that was distributed on February 24, 2003, to
stockholders of record at the close of business on February 6, 2003. We had approximately 15.8 million shares
outstanding at the close of business on February 6, 2003 and issued approximately 7.9 million shares to our
stockholders of record.

On July 18, 2003, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a second three-for-two stock split
payable in the form of a fifty percent stock dividend that was distributed on August 12, 2003, to stockholders
of record at the close of business on July 28, 2003. We had approximately 23.9 million shares outstanding at

the close of business on July 28, 2003 and issued approximately 12.0 million shares to our stockholders of
record.

The payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on:
» any applicable contractual restrictions limiting our ability to pay dividends;

* our earnings;

« our financial condition;

+ our ability to fund capital requirements; and

+ other factors our board deems relevant.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to fund our
development and acquisition initiatives.

Equity-Based Compensation Plans. The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2003,
about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options under the Odyssey HealthCare, Inc.
Stock Option Plan and the 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan.
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- EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
(¢) Number of

Securities
Remaining
(a) Number of Available for
Securities to be (b) Weighted- Future Issuance
Issued Upon Average Exercise Under Equity
Exercise of Price of Compensation
Outstanding Outstanding Plans (Excluding
‘ Options, Warrants Options, Warrants Securities Reflected
Plan Category ‘ and Rights and Rights in Column(a))

(In thousands, except average exercise price)

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by

Stockholders ........... .. .. 2,742 $12.85 1,745
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by

Stockholders .. ....... ... ... i i L. = = =
Total ... 2,742 $12.85 1,745

|

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities. None.

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering. On November 5, 2001, we completed our initial public
offering in which we registered and sold 4.1 million shares (including 0.5 million shares issued upon the
exercise of the underwriters” option to purchase such shares to cover overallotments) of our common stock at
an offering price of $15.00 (pre-splits) per share. The shares of common stock sold in the offering were
registered under the Securities Act of 1933 on a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-51522) that was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 30, 2001.
Our managing underwriters were Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, CIBC World Markets
Corp. and SG Cowen Securities Corporation.

The aggregate gross proceeds to us from the offering were $62.1 million. In connection with the offering,
we paid an aggregate of $4.3 million in underwriting discounts and commissions to the underwriters. In
addition, the expenses incurred in connection with the offering for legal costs, accounting costs, registration,
filing and other costs were approximately $1.8 million. The aggregate net proceeds to us from the offering after
these expenses were $56.0 million. Subsequent to the offering, a portion of the net proceeds from the offering
was used to repay $7.1 million, including accrued and unpaid interest, under our credit agreement and to repay
$10.6 million, including accrued and unpaid interest, under our 12% senior subordinated notes. Also during
2001, $1.5 million was used for the acquisition of a hospice. During 2002, $21.0 million was used for the
acquisition of hospices and $8.3 million was used for general corporate purposes. During 2003, the remaining
$7.5 million was used for the acquisition of hospices.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2002 and 2003 and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2002 and 2003 are derived from
our consolidated financial statements that have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, and that are included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and are qualified by reference to those consolidated financial
statements. The selected consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 2000 and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001
are derived from our consolidated financial statements that have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, but are
not included in:this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any
future period. You should read the selected financial information set forth below in conjunction with “Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consoli-
dated financial statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. On
February 24, 2003 and August 12, 2003, the Company completed two separate three-for-two stock splits each
payable in the form of a fifty percent stock dividend. All share information has been adjusted for the stock
dividends which are more fully described in “Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related

Stockholder Matters — Dividends.”

Statements of Operations Data:

Net patient service revenue
Operating expenses:

Direct hospice care ..............

General and administrative (exclusive of
$1.1 million for both the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 2001 and $0.7
and $0.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, reported separately as stock-
based compensation charges)

Stock-based compensation charges
Provision for uncollectible accounts
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses . ..........

Income (loss) from operations

Other income (expense):

Minority interest. . ................
Interest income .. .................
Interest expense ..................

Income (loss) before provision for income

Net income (loss) ................

Preferred stock dividends...........

Gain on conversion of preferred
securities(1) ...................

Net income (loss) available to common

stockholders ...................
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic net income (loss) per common share

Diluted net income (loss) per common
Coshare ...l

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic ...... ... ... o
Diluted..............cooiinn.

Year Ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in thousands)

$ 46460 $ 85271 $ 130,181 § 194,459 274,309
24,014 44,964 62,269 94,944 136,366
18,873 28,375 43,043 60,414 80,181
— 1,113 1,112 685 409
2,031 2,708 3,207 2,952 4,015
1,563 1,656 2,211 1,509 2,542
46,481 78,816 111,842 160,504 223,513
(21) 6,455 18,339 33,955 50,796
(5 (46) (150) 50 —
35 31 239 544 390
(2,209) (2,931) (2,512) (269) (140)
(2,179) (2,946) (2,423) 325 250
(2,200) 3,509 15,916 34,280 51,046
— 417 3,020 13,140 19,839
(2,200) 3,092 12,896 21,140 31,207
(1,320) (1,302) (1,097) - —
— — 5,755 — —
$ (3,520) $ 1,790 $ 17,554 $ 21,140 31,207
$  (0.81) $ 041 § 183 § 0.61 0.87
$  (081) $ 011 $ 045 § 0.58 0.84
4,372,194 4,379,900 9,552,654 34,781,331 35,944,844
4,372,194 26,595,525 28,620,512 36,691,449 37,256,252
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Year Ended December 31,
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

(Unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands)

Operating Data: ‘

Number of hospice programs(2) ................. 30 32 42 58 75
Admissions(3) e 8,303 12,965 15,969 22,062 26,763
Daysof care(4) «........ ..ot 422,571 737,088 1,111,168 1,608,556 2,197,110
Average daily census(S) ... oo 1,158 2,014 3,044 4,407 6,019
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities $ (1,588) § 3,520 §$ 14956 $ 18,732 § 27,605
Cash flows used in investing activities . ............ $ (5,340) $ (1,503) $ (31,001) $ (28,348) $ (40,088%)

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities $ 6,702 § (2,293) $ 36,019 § (2,724) $ 4,983

As of December 31,
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital {deficit) ............ .. ... ... $ (2,356) $(1,691) $50,363 $51,498 $72,806
Total @SSetS . .. i e 31,925 38,845 98,216 125414 179,558
Total long-term debt, including current portion.............. 21,852 20,311 3,781 274 17
Total convertible preferred stock ... ... .. ... ... ... . ..., 19,860 21,162 — -— —
Stockholders’ eqtﬁity (deficit) ....... ... o i (16,657) (13,746) 77,635 100,933 144,725

(1) The accumulated dividends on our Series A convertible preferred stock, Series B convertible preferred
stock and Series C convertible preferred stock were reversed in connection with the conversion of
preferred stock upon completion of our initial public offering and recognized as a gain to common
stockholders.

(2) Number of hospice programs at end of period. During 2003, we have begun development of Arlington,
Virginia; Athens, Georgia; West Covina, California; Allentown, Pennsylvania; Harrisburg, Pennsylvania;
Jackson, Mississippi; and Providence, Rhode Island. We acquired our Amarillo, Texas and Conroe, Texas
programs in January 2004.

(3) Represents the total number of patients admitted into our hospice program during the period.
(4) Represents the total days of care provided to our patients during the period.

(5) Represents the average number of patients for whom we provided hospice care each day during the period
and is computed by dividing days of care by the number of days during the period.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with our selected consolidated financial and operating data and the consolidated financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are one of the largest providers of hospice care in the United States in terms of both average daily
census and number of hospice programs, that is, communities served. We have grown rapidly since we opened
our first hospice program in January 1996. Through the development of new hospice programs and a series of
acquisitions, we now have 68 Medicare-certified hospice providers to serve patients and their families in
29 states. We currently have 75 programs, including seven programs under development, in 30 states. We
operate .all of our hospice programs through our operating subsidiaries. OQur net patient service revenue of
$274.3 million'in 2003 represents an increase of 41.1% over net patient service revenue of $194.5 million in
2002 and an increase of 110.7% over net patient service revenue of $130.2 million in 2001. In 2001, 2002 and
2003, we reported net income of $12.9 million, $21.1 million and $31.2 million, respectively.
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On January 27, 2003, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a three-for-two stock split
payable in the form of a fifty percent stock dividend that was distributed on February 24, 2003, to stockholders
of record at the close of business on February 6, 2003. We had approximately 15.8 million shares of common
stock outstanding at the close of business on February 6, 2003 and issued approximately 7.9 million shares of
common stock to the stockholders of record.

On July 18, 2003, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a three-for-two stock split
payable in the form of a fifty percent stock dividend to be distributed on August 12, 2003, to stockholders of
record at the close of business on July 28, 2003. We had approximately 23.9 million shares of common stock
outstanding at the close of business on July 28, 2003 and issued approximately 12.0 million shares of common
stock to the stockholders of record.

Developed Hospices’
We have developed the following hospice programs since January 1, 2001:

During 2001, we began development of four hospice programs in Norfolk, Virginia; Chicago (South}),
Illinois; Tulsa, Oklahoma and Austin, Texas.

During 2002, we continued development of the Norfolk, Virginia; Chicago (South), Ilinois; Tulsa,
Oklahoma and Austin, Texas hospice programs and began development of new hospice programs in
Montgomery, Alabama; St. Louis, Missouri; Cleveland, Ohio and Big Spring, Texas. Our Norfolk, Virginia;
Chicago (South), Illinois; Tulsa, Oklahoma; Austin, Texas; Montgomery, Alabama and St. Louis, Missouri
hospice programs have all become Medicare and Medicaid certified.

In 2003, we continued development of the Cleveland, Ohio and Big Spring, Texas hospice programs and
started development of hospice programs in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Richmond, Virginia; Cincinnati,
Ohio; Portland, Oregon; Santa Fe, New Mexico; Toledo, Ohio; Mobile, Alabama and Fargo, North Dakota.
Our Cleveland, Ohio; Big Spring, Texas; Cincinnati, Ohio; Portland, Oregon and Mobile, Alabama hospice
programs have all become Medicare and Medicaid certified. Our Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Richmond,
Virginia; Santa Fe, New Mexico; Toledo, Ohio and Fargo, North Dakota hospice programs have all become
Medicare certified and are awaiting Medicaid certification.

In 2004, we have started development of hospice programs in Arlington, Virginia; Athens, Georgia; West
Covina, California; Allentown, Pennsylvania; Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Jackson, Mississippi and Providence,
Rhode Island.

Acqguisitions
We have acquired the following hospice programs since January 1, 2001:

During 2001, we acquired seven hospice programs for a combined purchase price of $11.3 million. We
financed our acquisitions in 2001 with $7.0 million in cash obtained from borrowings under our credit
agreement, $1.2 million in cash from the proceeds of our initial public offering and promissory notes payable to
the sellers in the aggregate principal amount of $3.1 million.

During 2002, we acquired twelve hospice programs for a combined purchase price of $19.9 million, and
also acquired the remaining 33% interest in Hospice of Houston, L.P. for $1.1 million. We financed our
acquisitions in 2002, including the interest in Hospice of Houston, with $21.3 million in cash from the
proceeds of our initial public offering.

During 2003, we acquired eight hospice programs for a combined purchase price of $22.4 million. We
financed our acquisitions in 2003 with the remaining $7.5 million in cash from the proceeds of our initial
public offering and $14.9 million in cash generated through our operations.

In January 2004, we acquired one hospice program with two provider numbers for a combined purchase
price of $22.5 million. We financed our acquisition in 2004 with cash generated through our operations.

37




We accouﬁted for these acquisitions as purchases. See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

As part of our ongoing acquisition strategy, we are continually evaluating other potential acquisition
opportunities.

Goodwill from our hospice acquisitions was $66.7 million as of December 31, 2003. Goodwill was 46.1%
of stockholders’iequity and 37.1% of total assets as of December 31, 2003. During fiscal 2001 and prior years,
we amortized our goodwill over 20 years for acquisitions completed through June 30, 2001 and did not
amortize goodwill for acquisitions subsequent to June 30, 2001. Under new rules issued by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, effective for fiscal 2002, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite
lives are no longer amortized but are subject to annual impairment tests in accordance with the new rules.
Other intangible assets continue to be amortized over their useful lives. We are applying the new rules on
accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following table lists our acquisitions since January 1, 2001, and patient census data at acquisition:

Patient
Census on
Date of
Hospice Acquisition
2001
Little Rock, ATKaNSas . ... .ottt 81
Coloradoi Springs, Colorado. . ... ... oo 30
Charleston, South Carolina . ... e 32
Beaumont, Texas ....... .. e 55
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania (1).................. e 80
Palm Springs, California (2) .........eeee et 68
Odessa, TeXAS . ..ottt 110
2002
Baton Rouge, LOUISIana. . ... ...t 50
New Orleans, Louisiana. .. ... .. .. i i 56
Shreveport, Louisiana. .. ... .. i i e 104
Columbus, Ohio . ... 19
Bakersfield, California . ... ... i e 11
Wichita, KamSas . ..o oottt e e e 0
Gulf Coast, MississipPi ... ..ot 38
Albuquerque, New MexXiCo . . ..ottt e 80
Omaha, Nebraska. .. ... ... i e 3
Lake Charles, Louisiana .. ...........tiniinii e 101
La Grange, TeXas . ... ovvu ettt et e e e i e 20
Round ROk, TEXaS (3) + o vvrnn oo e 60
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Patient

Census on
Date of
Hospice Acquisition
2003
Waxahachie, TeXas. . ...ttt e 104
Valdosta, Georgia . .. ....o.ir ittt e e e 16
Memphis, Tennessee ... ...ttt 8
Wilmington, Delaware ... ... ... e 15
Brownsville, TeXas ... ..ot e 60
Salt Lake City, Utah . ... ... e e 280
Omaha, Nebraska. . ... ... 35
San Antonio, Texas (4) ... oot e 100
2004
Amarillo, TeXas ... . . e 204
Conroe, T XS . .. ot 221

(1) Operations of our Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania hospice program acquired in 2001 were transferred to our
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania hospice program opened in 1996.

(2) Operations of our Riverside, California hospice program acquired in 1999, were relocated to our San
Bernardino, California hospice program acquired in 2001. Existing Riverside patients were split between
our San Bernardino hospice program and a new program in Palm Springs, California.

(3) Patients of our Round Rock, Texas hospice, which we acquired in 2002, were relocated to our Austin,
Texas hospice program, which we opened in 2002. The provider number for our Round Rock location was
transferred to Temple, Texas in order for us to initiate a hospice program there in 2003.

(4) Operations of our San Antonio, Texas hospice program acquired in 2003 were transferred to our existing
San Antonio, Texas program opened in 1998.

Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue is the estimated net realizable revenue from patients, Medicare, Medicaid,
commercial insurance, managed care payors and others for services rendered. Payors may determine that the
services provided are not covered and do not qualify for a payment or, for commercial payors, that payments
are subject to usual and customary rates. To determine net patient service revenue, we adjust gross patient
service revenue for estimated payment denials and contractual adjustments based on historical experience. We
recognize net patient service revenue in the month in which our services are delivered. Services provided under
the Medicare program represented approximately 94.1%, 94.2% and 92.9% of our net patient service revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Services provided under Medicaid
programs represented approximately 3.1%, 3.3% and 4.1% of our net patient service revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. The payments we receive from Medicare and
Medicaid are calculated using daily or hourly rates for each of the four levels of care we deliver and are
adjusted based on geographic location.

Routine home care is the largest component of our gross patient service revenue, representing 88.7%,
89.8% and 89.5% of gross patient service revenue for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively. Inpatient care represented 9.0%, 8.3% and 8.7% of gross patient service revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Continuous care and respite care, combined,
represented most of the remaining 2.3%, 1.9% and 1.8% of gross patient service revenue for these periods,
respectively.

The principal factors that impact net patient service revenue are our average daily census, levels of care
provided to our patients and changes in Medicare and Medicaid payment rates due to adjustments for
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inflation. Average daily census is affected by the number of patients referred and admitted into our hospice
program and average length of stay of those patients once admitted. Average length of stay is impacted by
patients’ decisions of when to enroll in hospice care after diagnoses of terminal illnesses and, once enrolled, the
length of the terminal illnesses. Our average hospice length of stay has increased from 65 days in 2002 to
74 days in 2003. This increase is, in part, related to a change in the patient diagnosis mix, to increased
admissions of non-cancer ailments, whose lengths of stay are typically higher than those with cancer related
illnesses. See “— Expenses” and “Item 1. Business — Hospice Industry and Market Opportunity.”

Payment rates under Medicare and Medicaid are indexed for inflation annually; however, the increases
have historically been less than actual inflation. On October 1, 2002 and 2003, the base Medicare payment
rates for hospice care increased by approximately 3.4% over the base rates previously in effect. These rates
were further adjusted geographically by the hospice wage index. In the future, reductions in the rate of
increase in Medicare and Medicaid payments may have an adverse impact on our net patient service revenue
and profitability: See “Item 1. Business — Government Regulation — Overview of Government Payments.”

Expenses

Because payments for hospice services are primarily paid on a per diem basis, our profitability is largely
dependent on our ability to manage the expenses of providing hospice services. We recognize expenses as
incurred and classify expenses as either direct hospice care expenses or general and administrative expenses.
Direct hospice care expenses primarily include direct patient care salaries and payroll taxes, pharmaceuticals,
medical equipment and supplies, and inpatient costs. Length of stay impacts our direct hospice care expenses
as a percentage of net patient service revenue because, if lengths of stay decline, direct hospice care expenses,
which are often highest during the earliest and latter days of care for a patient, are spread against fewer days of
care. Expenses are normally higher during the latter days of care, because patients generally require greater
hospice services, including drugs, medical equipment and nursing care at that time due to their deteriorating
medical condition. In addition, cost pressures resulting from the use of more expensive forms of palliative care,
including drugs iand drug delivery systems, could negatively impact our profitability.

For our patients receiving nursing home care under a state Medicaid program who elect hospice care
under Medicare or Medicaid, we contract with nursing homes for room and board services. The state must pay
us, in addition to the applicable Medicare or Medicaid hospice daily or hourly rate, an amount equal to at least
95% of the Medicaid daily nursing home rate for room and board furnished to the patient by the nursing home.
Under our standard nursing home contracts, we pay the nursing home for these room and board services at the
Medicaid daily nursing home rate. We refer to these costs, net of Medicaid payments, as “nursing home costs,
net.” See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

General and administrative expenses primarily include non-patient care salaries, employee benefits and
office leases.
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The following table sets forth the percentage of net patient service revenue represented by the items
included in direct hospice care expenses and general and administrative expenses (exclusive of $1.1 million in
2001, $0.7 million in 2002 and $0.4 million in 2003 reported separately as stock-based compensation) for the
periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003

Direct hospice care expenses:

Salaries and payroll taxes. .. ......... .. 27.2% 28.0% 28.6%
Pharmaceuticals . ... ... . e 7.1 6.9 6.9
Medical equipment and supplies . .......... ... i 6.1 6.1 6.0
Inpatient CoStS . ..ot e 2.0 2.3 29
Other (including nursing home costs, net) ........................ 54 5.5 53
Total 478% 48.8% 49.7%
General and administrative expenses:
Salaries and benefits .. ... ... 19.6% 18.6% 18.5%
LaSeS . o o 28 2.7 2.5
Other (including bad debts, travel, office supplies, printing and
equipment rental) ... ... ... o 134 113 82
Total . 355% 32.6% 29.2%

Stock-Based and Other Compensation Charges

Stock-based compensation charges represent the difference between the exercise price of stock options
granted and the deemed fair value of our common stock on the date of grant determined in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and its related interpretations. We recognize compensation
charges over the vesting periods of the stock options using a graded amortization methodology in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 28. For purposes of the period-to-period
comparisons included in our results of operations, general and administrative expenses exclude these stock-
based compensation charges, which are reflected as a separate line item.

We have recorded deferred stock-based compensation charges related to unvested stock options granted
to employees and directors during 2000 and 2001. Based on the number of outstanding stock options granted
during 2000 and 2001, we expect to amortize approximately $0.3 million of deferred stock-based compensa-
tion during 2004 and in future periods.

Upon completion of our initial public offering, we forgave the repayment of promissory notes payable to
us by Richard R. Burnham, and David C. Gasmire, who at the time of our initial public offering were
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and President and Chief Operating Officer, respectively. We recorded
a compensation charge of $0.2 million in connection with the forgiveness of these notes in the fourth quarter of
2001.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes consists of current and deferred federal and state income tax expenses.
We estimate that our effective tax rate will be approximately 38.5% during 2004. See Note 12 to our
consolidated financial statements included eisewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note | to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain of our accounting policies are
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particularly irﬂportant to the portrayal of our financial position and results of operations included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and require the application of significant judgment by us; as a result, they
are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. In applying those policies, we use our judgment to determine
the appropriate assumptions to be used in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates are based on
our historical payment experience, our observance of trends in the industry and information available from
other outside sources, as appropriate.

Net Patient Service Revenue and Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

We report.net patient service revenue at the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, Medicare,
Medicaid, commercial insurance, managed care payors and others for services rendered. Payors may
determine that the services provided are not covered and do not qualify for payment or, for commercial payors,
that payments are subject to usual and customary rates. To determine net patient service revenue, we adjust
gross patient service revenue for estimated payment denials and contractual adjustments based on historical
experience. We recognize net patient service revenue in the month in which our services are delivered. Due to
the complexity iof the laws and regulations affecting Medicare and Medicaid, a reasonable possibility exists
that recorded estimates could change by a material amount in the future.

Overall payments made by Medicare to us are subject to a cap amount calculated by the Medicare fiscal
intermediary at the end of the hospice cap period. The hospice cap period runs from November 1st of each
year through October 31st of the following year. Total Medicare payments to us during this period are
compared to the cap amount for this period. Payments in excess of the cap amount must be returned by us to
Medicare. The cap amount is calculated by multiplying the number of beneficiaries electing hospice care
during the period by a statutory amount that is indexed for inflation. The cap amount was $18,661 for the
twelve-month period ending October 31, 2003. The cap amount for the twelve month period ending
October 31, 2004 has not been established by Medicare. Once established, the new cap amount will become
effective retroactively for all services performed since November 1, 2003. The hospice cap amount is
computed on a program-by-program basis. Our net patient service revenue for 2003 was reduced by
$1.2 million as a result of six of our hospice programs exceeding the Medicare cap. We cannot assure you that
additional hospices will not exceed the cap amount in the future.

We maintain a policy for reserving for uncollectible accounts. We calculate the allowance for uncollecti-
ble accounts based on a formula tied to the aging of accounts receivable by payor class. We reserve for specific
accounts that are determined to be uncollectible when such determinations are made. Accounts are written off
when all collection efforts are exhausted.

Insurance Risks

General and professional liability costs for the healthcare industry have increased and become more
difficult to estimate. In addition, insurance coverage for patient care liabilities and other risks has become
more difficult to obtain. Insurance carriers often require companies to increase their liability retention levels
and pay higher policy premiums for reduced coverage. In our consolidated financial statements, we provide for
liabilities associated with the uninsured portion of our general and professional liability risks, based on our
experience, consultation with our attorneys and insurers, and our existing insurance coverage.

Goodwill

Goodwill is 'the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired in an
acquisition. Prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), goodwill was amortized using the straight-line method, generally
over periods ranging from 20-25 years. After the adoption of SFAS 142, we review goodwill for impairment
annually during the fourth quarter. We determine the fair value of the reporting units using multiples, of
revenue. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then an indication of impairment
exists. The amount of the impairment would be the difference between the carrying amount of the goodwill
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and the fair value of the goodwill. No impairment charges have been recorded, but we cannot guarantee that
impairment charges will not impact our results of operations or financial position in the future.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial information as a percentage of net patient
service revenue for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003

Net patient SEIVICE TEVENUE . . ..ottt e ittt e ie e e e et 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Operating expenses:
Direct hospice Care . . ... ..ottt i e 47.8 48.8 49.7
General and administrative (exclusive of $1.1 million, $0.7 million
and $0.4 million in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, reported
separately as stock-based compensation charges) ................ 33.0 311 29.2
Stock-based compensation charges . ........... ... ... L, 0.9 0.3 0.1
Provision for uncollectible accounts .................... ... ...... 2.5 1.5 1.5
Depreciation and amortization. ............. .. ... 0o, 1.7 0.8 1.0
85.9 82.5 81.5
Income from operations ... .........oviiiiiininiiiiin s 14.1 17.5 18.5
Other income (EXPense), NEL. ... v vt ettt e, (1.8) 0.2 0.1
Income before income taxes . ...... ... .. . . i 12.3 17.7 18.6
Provision for income taxes ... ...ttt e 24 6.8 7.2
Nt INCOME ot i i i i i i i e e 9.9% 109% 11.4%

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002
Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue increased $79.9 million, or 41.1%, from $194.5 million in 2002 to
$274.3 million in 2003 due primarily to an increase in average daily census of 1,612, or 36.6%, from 4,407 in
2002 to 6,019 in 2003. Increases in patient referrals from existing and new referral sources, resulting in
increased billable days, and, to a lesser extent, increases in payment rates, provided approximately $52.2 mil-
lion, or 65.3%, of this increase in net patient service revenue. The remaining increase of $27.7 million, or
34.7%, in net patient service revenue was due to the inclusion of net patient service revenue from hospice
programs acquired and developed in 2002 and 2003. Net patient service revenue per day of care was $120.89
and $124.85 in 2002 and 2003, respectively. This increase was primarily due to overall increases in Medicare
payment rates for our hospice services. Medicare and Medicaid payments represented 97.5% and 97.0% of our
net patient service revenue in 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Direct Hospice Care Expenses

Direct hospice care expenses increased $41.4 million, or 43.6%, from $94.9 million in 2002 to
$136.4 million in 2003. This increase was primarily due to the growth of our operations at our existing hospice
programs and, to a lesser extent, to hospice programs acquired in 2002 and 2003. As a percentage of net
patient service revenue, direct hospice care expenses increased from 48.8% in 2002 to 49.7% in 2003 primarily
due to the growth of our operations through developed hospice programs.

General and Administrative Expenses (Exclusive of Stock-Based Compensation)

General and administrative expenses increased $19.8 million, or 32.7%, from $60.4 million in 2002 to
$80.2 million in 2003. This increase was due to the growth of our operations, including hospice programs
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acquired after December 31, 2002, to support our patient census growth during 2003. As a percentage of net
patient service revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased from 31.1% in 2002 to 29.2% in 2003,
due primarily to-our hospice program and corporate costs being spread over our increased patient census and,
to a lesser extent, overall increases in Medicare payment rates.

Stock-Based C‘ompensation Charges

Stock-based compensation charges decreased $0.3 million, or 40.3%, from $0.7 million in 2002 to
$0.4 million in 2003. These charges related to stock options granted to management prior to our initial public
offering with exercise prices below the deemed fair value of our common stock. See “— Stock-Based and
Other Compensation Charges.”

Provision for Uncollectible Accounts

Our provision for uncollectible accounts increased $1.1 million, or 36.0%, from $3.0 million in 2002 to
$4.0 million in 2003, due primarily to our increased net patient service revenue and to additional reserves for
estimated payment denials from Medicare. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, our provision for
uncollectible accounts remained at 1.5% in both 2002 and 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $1.0 million, or 68.5%, from $1.5 million in 2002 to
$2.5 million in 2003. The increase was due to the depreciation of additions in fixed assets and the amortization
of new intangible assets with a fixed life. As a percentage of net patient service revenue, depreciation and
amortization expense increased from 0.8% in 2002 to 1.0% in 2003.

Other Income [Expense)

Other income (expense) decreased $0.1 million, or 23.1%, from income of $325,000 in 2002 to income of
$250,000 in 2003, due to a decrease in interest income related to the use of investment funds for acquisitions in
2003 and the maturity of bond holdings in 2002. Also, we acquired the minority interest in the Hospice of
Houston in the third quarter of 2002, reversing $50,000 of previously recorded minority interest expense.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes was $13.1 million and $19.8 million in 2002 and 2003, respectively. We
had an effective income tax rate of approximately 38% and 39% in 2002 and 2003, respectively. The difference
between our effective income tax rate and the statutory rate in each vear is primarily attributable to state
income taxes.

Net Income

Net incomc increased $10.1 million, from $21.1 million in 2002 to $31.2 million in 2003.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001
Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue increased $64.3 million, or 49.4%, from $130.2 millicn in 2001 to
$194.5 million in 2002 due primarily to an increase in average daily census of 1,363, or 44.8%, from 3,044 in
2001 to 4,407 in 2002. Increases in patient referrals from existing and new referral sources, resulting in
increased billable days, and, to a lesser extent, increases in payment rates, provided approximately $51.4 mil-
lion, or 79.9%, of this increase in net patient service revenue. The remaining increase of $12.9 million, or
20.1%, in net patient service revenue was due to the inclusion of net patient service revenue from hospice
programs acquired and developed in 2001 and 2002. Net patient service revenue per day of care was $117.16
and $120.89 in 2001 and 2002, respectively. This increase was primarily due to overall increases in Medicare
payment rates for our hospice services. Medicare and Medicaid payments represented 97.2% and 97.5% of our
net patient service revenue in 2001 and 2002, respectively.
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Direct Hospice Care Expenses

Direct hospice care expenses increased $32.7 million, or 52.5%, from $62.3 million in 2001 to
$94.9 million in 2002. This increase was primarily due to the growth of our operations at our existing hospice
programs and, to a lesser extent, to hospice programs acquired in 2001 and 2002. As a percentage of net
patient service revenue, direct hospice care expenses increased from 47.8% in 2001 to 48.8% in 2002 primarily
due to the growth of our operations through developed hospice programs.

General and Administrative Expenses (Exclusive of Stock-Based Compensation)

General and administrative expenses increased $17.4 million, or 40.4%, from $43.0 million in 2001 to
$60.4 million in 2002. This increase was due to the growth of our operations, including hospice programs
acquired after December 31, 2001, to support our patient census growth during 2002. As a percentage of net
patient service revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased from 33.0% in 2001 to 31.1% in 2002,
due primarily to our hospice program and corporate costs being spread over our increased patient census and,
to a lesser extent, overall increases in Medicare payment rates.

Stock-Based Compensation Charges

Stock-based compensation charges decreased $0.4 million, or 38.4%, from $1.1 million in 2001 to
$0.7 million in 2002. These charges related to stock options granted to management prior to our initial public
offering with exercise prices below the deemed fair value of our common stock. See “— Stock-Based and
Other Compensation Charges.”

Provision for Uncollectible Accounts

Our provision for uncollectible accounts decreased $0.3 million, or 8.0%, from $3.2 million in 2001 to
$3.0 million in 2002, due primarily to improved collection efforts. As a percentage of net patient service
revenue, our provision for uncollectible accounts decreased from 2.5% in 2001 to 1.5% in 2002.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $0.7 million, or 31.8%, from $2.2 million in 2001 to
$1.5 million in 2002. The decrease was due to the adoption of SFAS 142 in which goodwill is no longer
amortized but assessed for impairment at least annually. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As a percentage of net patient service revenue,
depreciation and amortization expense decreased from 1.7% in 2001 to 0.8% in 2002.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased $2.7 million, or 113.4%, from an expense of $2.4 million in 2001 to
income of $0.3 million in 2002, due primarily to a decrease in interest expense as a result of paying off our line
of credit and certain seller notes with proceeds received from our initial public offering, and by an increase in
interest income received from the investment from the proceeds of our initial public offering. Also, we
acquired the minority interest in the Hospice of Houston in the third quarter of 2002, reversing $50,000 of
previously recorded minority interest expense.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes was $3.0 million and $13.1 million in 2001 and 2002, respectively. We had
an effective income tax rate of 19% and 38% in 2001 and 2002, respectively. The difference between our
effective income tax rate and the statutory rate in each year is primarily attributable to state income taxes and
our use of net operating loss carryforwards in 2001. In 2001, we fully utilized our net operating loss
carryforwards of $9.5 million. At December 31, 2001, no valuation allowance was required for our net deferred
tax assets because the assets met the criteria for recognition under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 1097).
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Net [ncome

Net income increased $8.2 million, from $12.9 million in 2001 to $21.1 million in 2002.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal liquidity requirements have historically been for debt service, hospice acquisitions and
development plans, working capital and other capital expenditures. We have historically financed these
requirements primarily with borrowings under our credit facility, proceeds from the issuance of convertible
preferred and common stock, warrants and debt, seller financing of hospice acquisitions, operating and capital
leases, normal trade credit terms, and since 2000, with cash flows from operations. At December 31, 2003, we
had cash and cash equivalents of $0.2 million and working capital of $72.8 million. At such date, we also had
short-term investments of $38.7 million.

In November 2001, we raised $56.0 million in net proceeds from our initial public offering, of which
$7.1 million was used to repay all outstanding indebtedness under our revolving line of credit and $10.6 million
was used to repay our 12% senior subordinated notes.

Cash provided by operating activities was $15.0 million, $18.7 million and $27.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. The increase in cash provided by operating activities
in 2001, 2002 and 2003 was primarily attributable to the increase in net income during those periods, partially
offset by increases in non-cash working capital requirements due to the growth of our business.

Investing activities, consisting primarily of cash paid to purchase hospices and property and equipment,
and also to establish short-term investments, used cash of $31.0 million, $28.3 million and $40.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was $36.0 million, $(2.7) million and $5.0 million for
the years ended, December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and represented payments on acquisition
notes and proceeds from the sale of capital stock, warrants, and in 2001, net borrowings under our credit
agreement and our 12% senior subordinated notes. Net cash provided by financing activities in 2001 included
$56.0 million in. net proceeds from our initial public offering.

We made 4 principal payment of $0.8 million on our 12% senior subordinated notes in June 2001 and a
second principal payment of $0.7 million in September 2001. We paid $1.6 million in accrued interest on these
notes in 2001. We used $10.6 million of the proceeds from our initial public offering to repay the notes in full
in November 2001.

In connection with our acquisition of a hospice program in November 2000, we issued a promissory note
payable to the seller in the principal amount of $0.5 million bearing interest at the rate of 8% per annum. In
November 2001, we paid the seller $0.2 million of the outstanding principal balance, plus accrued and unpaid
interest of $0.1 million. The remaining principal amount of $0.3 million, plus accrued and unpaid interest, was
paid in May 2002.

In connection with our acquisition of seven hospice programs in 2001, we paid an aggregate of
$8.2 million in cash and issued promissory notes payable to the sellers in the aggregate principal amount of
$3.1 million. During the first quarter of 2002, we repaid in full the principal balance of one note and all
accrued and unpaid interest in the aggregate amount of $0.3 million. During the second quarter of 2002, we
repaid in full the principal balance and all accrued and unpaid interest relating to one note in the aggregate
amount of $0.5 million and also repaid principal and accrued and unpaid interest relating to three notes in the
aggregate amount of $1.1 million. During the third quarter of 2002, we repaid in full the principal balance and
all accrued and unpaid interest relating to three notes in the aggregate amount of $1.0 million. During the first
quarter of 2003, we repaid in full the principal balance and all accrued and unpaid interest relating to one note
in the aggregate amount of $0.3 million.

Our credit agreement with Heller Healthcare Finance, Inc. provided us with a $20 million revolving line
of credit for working capital, acquisitions and general corporate purposes. Borrowings outstanding under our
revolving line of credit bore interest at fluctuating rates equal to 1.0% above the prime rate of interest
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designated by Citibank, with a floor of 10% per annum. Our revolving line of credit matured on October 2,
2003. At that time, we let our line of credit expire. Qur revolving line of credit was secured by all of our
accounts receivable and any other right to payment for goods sold or leased or services rendered by us and all
other property in our possession or under our control. We and our subsidiaries were subject to affirmative and
negative covenants under the credit agreement.

We were in full compliance with our financial and other covenants as of October 2, 2003.

In February 2004, we signed a commitment letter for a new revolving line of credit with General Electric
Capital Corporation and one of their affiliates that would provide us with a $50 million revolving line of credit
to fund future acquisitions, working capital, capital expenditures, and general corporate purposes. Borrowings
outstanding under the revolving line of credit will bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.5% or the higher of prime or
50 basis points over the federal funds rate plus .50%. The revolving line of credit will mature 36 months from
the date of closing of the financing. The revolving line of credit will have a facility fee of 0.375% per annum
and an annual monitoring fee of $30,000. Our revolving line of credit will be secured by substantially all
existing and after-acquired personal property assets and all after-acquired real property assets of ours and our
subsidiaries. We and our subsidiaries will be subject to affirmative and negative covenants under the credit
agreement. The closing of the revolving line of credit is subject to various conditions, including the negotiation
and delivery of definitive loan documents. We cannot assure that these closing conditions will be satisfied or
that the revolving line of credit will be completed.

Contractual Obligations

We have various contractual obligations at December 31, 2003 that could impact our liquidity as
summarized below:

Payments Due by Period

Less Than After
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Long-Term Debt...................... $ 17 $ 4 $ 10 § 3 § —
Operating Leases. ..................... 32,168 6,872 12,106 6,555 6,635
Total Contractual Obligations ........... $32,185 $6,876 $12.116 $6,558 $6,635

We expect that our principal liquidity requirements will be for working capital, development plans,
anticipated hospice acquisitions, debt service and other anticipated capital expenditures. We expect that our
existing funds, cash flows from operations and borrowings under our new credit agreement will be sufficient to
fund our principal liquidity requirements for at least 12 months following the date of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Our future liquidity requirements and the adequacy of our available funds will depend on many
factors, including payment for our services, regulatory changes and compliance with new regulations, expense
levels, capital expenditures and future development of new hospice programs and acquisitions.

Payment, Legislative and Regulatory Changes

We are highly dependent on payments from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These programs are
subject to statutory and regulatory changes, possible retroactive and prospective rate adjustments, administra-
tive rulings, rate freezes and funding reductions. Reductions in amounts paid by these programs for our
services or changes in methods or regulations governing payments for our services could materially adversely
affect our net patient service revenue and profitability.

Inflation

The healthcare industry is labor intensive. Wages and other expenses increase during periods of inflation
and when labor shortages occur in the marketplace. In addition, suppliers pass along rising costs to us in the
form of higher prices. We have implemented cost control measures designed to curb increases in operating

47



expenses. We have, to date, offset increases in operating costs by increasing patient census. However, we
cannot predict our ability to cover or offset future cost increases.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 145 “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 13, and Technical Corrections” {“SFAS 145”), which is required to be applied in fiscal years beginning
after May 15, 2002, with early application encouraged. SFAS 145 rescinds Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 4 “Reporting Gains and Losses From Extinguishment of Debt.” SFAS 145 requires any gains
or losses on extinguishment of debt that were classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods that do not
meet the criteria in APB 30 for classification as an extraordinary item be reclassified into income from
operations. We adopted the provisions of SFAS 145 on January 1, 2003. The impact of adoption of SFAS 145
reduced income from operations by $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 through the
reclassification of the loss on extinguishment of debt to general and administrative expenses.

In April 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 149 “Amendment of SFAS 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(“SFAS 149”). SFAS 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities”. SFAS 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The adoption of
SFAS 149 did not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity” (“SFAS 150”). SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain
financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS 150 is effective for financial
instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective beginning after July I,
2003. On October 29, 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board voted to defer for an indefinite period
the application of SFAS 150 to classification on non-controlling interests of limited-life subsidiaries. The
adoption of SFAS 150 did not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

Contingencies

Our current general and professional liability policy does not provide coverage for claims that arise from
acts that occurred prior to the policy’s start date of April 12, 2000. From March 12, 1999 to April 12, 2000,
Reliance National Insurance Company provided our insurance coverage. Since April 12, 2000, Lexington
Insurance Company, a subsidiary of American International Group, Inc., has provided our insurance coverage.
During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Insurance Commissioner of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania placed
Reliance National Insurance Company in liquidation. Based on our estimation of open claims, we are
maintaining a reserve to cover potential losses resulting from current and future litigation claims covered by
Reliance National Insurance Company to the extent its assets are not sufficient to pay such claims. Although
we believe that the amount reserved is adequate to cover our potential losses, there can be no assurance that
our losses will not exceed the amount reserved. Our profitability will be negatively impacted to the extent our
actual losses exceed the amount reserved.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Changes in interest rates would affect the fair market value of our fixed rate debt instruments but would
not have an impact on our earnings or cash flows. We do not currently have any variable rate debt instruments.
Fluctuations in interest rates on any future variable rate debt instruments, which are tied to the prime rate,
would affect our earnings and cash flows but would not affect the fair market value of the variable rate debt.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K for a listing of our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto. All financial
statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not present, not present in material
amounts or is presented within the consolidated financial statements.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) as of December 31, 2003, and based on such evaluation have concluded that such
disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information that is required
to be disclosed in the periodic reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. There have
been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15a-15(f)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2003, that
has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information set forth under the headings “Proposal One — Election of Class IIl Directors,”
“Directors,” “Code of Ethics,” “Meetings and Committees of Directors,” “Executive Officers” and “Sec-
tion 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) in connection
with our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information set forth under the headings “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation” and
“Performance Graph” contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of
the Exchange Act in connection with our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information set forth under the heading “Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders and
Management” contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the
Exchange Act in connection with our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by
reference.

For information regarding common stock to be issued pursuant to equity-based compensation plans, see
“Ttem 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information set forth under the headings “Executive Compensation” and “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” contained in our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of
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the Exchange Act in connection with our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by
reference. ‘

Item 14. Prinéipal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth under the heading “Fees Paid to Independent Auditors” contained in our
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act in connection with our
2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) The financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) All financial statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not present,
not present in material amounts or is presented within the financial statements.

(3) Tjhc following documents are filed or incorporated by reference as exhibits to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit :
Number : Description
3.1 — Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on September 13, 2001)

3.2 — Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission
on December 8, 2000)

4.1 — Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Amendment No. | to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed
with the Commission on August 2, 2001)

4.2 — Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 1, 1998, by and among
Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and the security holders named therein (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522)
as filed with the Commission on December 8, 2000)

4.3 — Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”) dated November 5, 2001, between Odyssey
HealthCare, Inc. and Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A as filed with the Commission on December 8, 2001)

4.4 — Form 'of Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (included as
Exhibit A to the Rights Agreement (Exhibit 4.3 hereto))

10.1.1 — Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 2, 2000 (the “Credit
Agreement”), by and among Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and subsidiaries and Heller Healthcare
Finance, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on December 8, 2000)

10.1.2 — First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated March 29, 2001 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on August 2, 2001)

10.1.3 — Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated May 8, 2001 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on September 13, 2001)
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.2 — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of February 28, 2002, by and between
Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and Richard R. Burnham (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Commission on March 20, 2002)

10.3 — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of February 28, 2002, by and between
Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and David C. Gasmire (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Commission on March 20, 2002)

104 — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective as of February 28, 2002, by and between
Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and Douglas B. Cannon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Annual report on Form 10-K as filed with the Commission on March 20, 2002)

10.5.1 — Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on December &, 2000)

10.5.2 — First Amendment to the Stock Option Plan, dated January 31, 2001 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5.2 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on September 13, 2001)

10.6 — 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on September 13, 2001)

10.7.1 — Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s
Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed
with the Commission on September 13, 2001)

10.7.2 — First Amendment to Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dated March 6, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.7.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the
Commission on March 20, 2002)

10.8 — Form of Indemnification Agreement between Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and its directors and
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on December 8, 2000)

10.9.1 — Promissory Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated May 22, 1998, by and among Odyssey
HealthCare, Inc. and the other parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the
Commission on December 8, 2000)

10.9.2 — Form of Warrant, dated May 22, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the
Commission on December §, 2000)

10.9.3 — First Amendment to Warrants, dated December 6, 2000 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10.3 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-51522) as filed with the Commission on August 2, 2001)

21 — Subsidiaries of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. *

23.1 — Consent of Ernst & Young LLP *

31.1 — Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a), dated March 11, 2004, by David C. Gasmire, Chief
Executive Officer *

31.2 — Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a), dated March 11, 2004, by Douglas B. Cannon, Chief
Financial Officer *

32 — Certification required by Rule 13a-14(a), dated March 11, 2004, by David C. Gasmire, Chief
Executive Officer, and Douglas B. Cannon, Chief Financial Officer *

* Filed herewith.
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(b) We filed the following report on Form 8-K during the quarterly period ended December 31, 2003:
(1) Current report on Form 8-K (Item 12), furnished November 3, 2003, announcing the quarterly

consolidated financial results of the Company for the third quarter and the nine months ended

September 30, 2003.

{c) The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are filed as part of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K.
(d) The réquircd financial statements and financial statement schedules are filed as part of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC.

By: /s/  Davip C. GASMIRE

David C. Gasmire
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 11, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/  RicHARD R. BURNHAM Chairman of the Board March 11, 2004
Richard R. Burnham

/s/ Davip C. GASMIRE President, Chief Executive Officer and March 11, 2004
David C. Gasmire Assistant Secretary
/s/ DoucLas B. CANNON Senior Vice President, Chief Financial March 11, 2004
Douglas B. Cannon Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Principal

Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ JouN K. CARLYLE Director March 11, 2004
John K. Carlyle

/s/  Davip W. CrosS Director March 11, 2004
David W. Cross

/s!/ PauL J. FELDSTEIN Director March 11, 2004
Paul J. Feldstein

/s/ MARTIN S. RASH Director March 11, 2004
Martin S. Rash

/s/ SHAWN S. SCHABEL Director March 11, 2004
Shawn S. Schabel

/s/  DaviD L. STEFFY Director March 11, 2004
David L. Steffy
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' REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Odyssey HealthCare, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, preferred stock and stockholders” equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the lamounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and
2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company
changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 6, 2004
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .......... . i i
Short-term Investments . .. ... .t et e e e e

Accounts receivable from patient services, net of allowance for uncollectible
accounts of $2,962 and $3,913 at December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively . .

Deferred tax a8SeTS . . .\ttt
Income taxes receivable .. ... .. . ..
Other CUITENt ASSELS . . ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e e

Total Current assets .. ...t
Property and equipment, net. . ... ... . e
Debt ISSUE COSTS, ME L ottt e e
Goodwill .o
Intangibles, Met. .. ... ot

Total A88EES . o ot

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . . .. ...
Accrued COMPENSATION . .. ..\ vi it e et
Accrued nursing home Costs . ... ..ottt
Other accrued EXPENSES. . ..ottt e e
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations .............

Total current liabilities . ........ ... i
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current maturities .............
Deferred tax lability ... ...
Other Habilities. . .. .. o
Commitments and contingencies Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $.001 par value:

Authorized shares — 75,000,000 Issued and outstanding shares — 35,067,136
at December 31, 2002 and 36,547,132 at December 31, 2003 .............

Additional paid-in capital ....... ... ...
Deferred compensation .. ...ttt e
Retained €arnings. . ... .ot

Total stockholders’ equity ... ..o
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ................ ... ..........

See accompanying notes.

F-3

December 31,

2002

2003

(In thousands, except
share and per share

amounts)
$§ 7,732 § 232
25,898 38,742
35,652 57,651
1,752 1,170
667 1,961
2,172 3,584
73,873 103,340
3,670 6,435
25 —
46,527 66,678
1,319 3,105
$125,414  $179,558
$ 2,158 $ 5414
7,277 9,647
7,377 9,585
5,289 5,884
274 4
22,375 30,534
— 13
1,779 4,286
327 —
35 37
79,191 91,365
(726) (317)
22,433 53,640
100,933 144,725
$125,414  $179,558




ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31,

Net patient Service TEVENUE .. ..o vvvv e etttin e
Operating expenses:
Direct hoSpICE CaAr€ . ..o oottt

General and administrative (exclusive of $1,112, $685 and $409 for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively,
reported below as stock-based compensation charges) ...........

Stock-based compensation Charges ..............oveeeerenn.s
Provision for uncollectible accounts ........... ... .. .. . oL
Depreciation. .......... .. oo e
AMOTHIZATION . . oottt e

Income from OPErations .. ......oveirrn ot ee e
Other income (expense):
Minority TS o S
Interest iNCOME . .. .ot it i e e e
INLETeSt EXPEMSE. « . vt v et ettt e

Income before provision for income taxes ................ .. ...
Provision for iNCOME tAXES . .. v v vt vt ie ettt

Nt INCOmMe ..o e e e
Preferred stock dividends . ........ ... i
Gain on conversion of preferred securities . ..................... ...

Net income available to common stockholders .............. ... .. ..

Net income per .common share:
Basic net income per common share ......... ...

Diluted net income per common share .........................

Weighted average shares outstanding:

See accompanying notes.
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2001 2002 2003
(In thousands, except
per share amounts)
$130,181  $194,459  $274,309
62,269 94,944 136,366
43,043 60,414 80,181
1,112 685 409
3,207 2,952 4,015
983 1,468 2,181
1,228 41 361
111,842 160,504 223,513
18,339 33,955 50,796
(150) 50 —
239 544 390
(2,512) (269) (140)
(2,423) 325 250
15,916 34,280 51,046
3,020 13,140 19,839
12,896 21,140 31,207
(1,097) — —
5,755 — —
$ 17,554 $ 21,140 $ 31,207
$ 183 § 061 § 087
$ 045 § 0358 $§ 0.84
9,552 34,782 35,945
28,620 36,691 37,256
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(In thousands)
Operating Activities
NEtINCOMIE i o ottt e $ 12,896 $ 21,140 § 31,207
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Loss on debt extinguishment ................ ... ... ..., 572 — —
Forgiveness. of stockholder loans .......... ... ... ... ... .. .. 171 — —
Depreciation and amortization. ........... ... 0. 2,211 1,509 2,542
Amortization of deferred charges and debt discount ........... 173 34 25
Stock-based compensation ......... ... oo 1,112 685 409
Minority interest . ... .ot 150 (50) —
Deferred tax eXpense ..o, (323) 350 3,089
Tax benefit realized for stock option exercises ................ — 891 6,936
Provision for uncollectible accounts ......................... 3,207 2,952 4,015
Changes in loperating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable . ... .. L (9,242)  (13,561)  (26,341)
Other current assets . ... i (623) (1,275) (2,706)
Accounts payable, accrued nursing home costs and other
ACCTUE EXPENSES . . o v ottt ettt e e 4,652 6,057 8,429
Net cash .provided by operating activities. . ................. 14,956 18,732 27,605
Investing Activities
Cash paid for acquisitions . ....... ... .. .. (7.845)  (21,269)  (22,469)
Increase in short-term investments ............................ (21,419) (4,479)  (12,844)
Purchases of property and equipment.......................... (1,737) (2,600) (4,775)
Net cash used in investing activities....................... (31,001)  (28,348)  (40,088)
Financing Activities
Proceeds fromi issuance of common stock ...................... 56,616 582 5,240
Distributions to minority partners . ..............coviiiiio.. — (100) —
Proceeds from issuance of debt . ..... ... ... ... ... . ... ... ...... 116,893 15 13
Paymentsondebt ... .. .. .. L (137,490) (3,221) (270)
Net cash iprovided by (used in) financing activities .......... 36,019 (2,724) 4,983
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .............. 19,974 (12,340) (7,500)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period ................... 98 20,072 7,732
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ........................ $ 20,072 § 7,732 § 232
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cashinterest paid .. ............ i $ 2698 § 341 § 125
Income taxes paid...... ... .. it $ 2,526 $ 13353 § 11,513

See accompanying notes.
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) provide hospice care, with a goal of
improving the quality of life of terminally ill patients and their families. Hospice services focus on palliative
care for patients with life-limiting illnesses, which is care directed at managing pain and other discomforting
symptoms and addressing the psychosocial and spiritual needs of patients and their families. The Company
provides for all medical, psychosocial care and certain other support services associated with the patient’s
terminal illness.

The Company was incorporated on August 29, 1995 in the state of Delaware and, as of February 29,
2004, had 68 Medicare-certified hospice providers serving patients and their families in 29 states, with
significant operations in Texas, California and Arizona.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash and cash equivalents include currency, checks on hand and overnight repurchase agreements of
government securities. Short-term investments primarily include money market funds and debt securities with
initial maturities between 180 days and one year.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Management estimates that the carrying amounts of the
Company’s financial instruments included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are not materially
different from their fair values. '

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable represents amounts due from patients, third-party payors (principally the Medicare
and Medicaid programs), and others for services rendered based on payment arrangements specific to each
payor. Approximately 90.6% and 91.4% of the accounts receivable at December 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, represent amounts due from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The Company maintains a
policy for reserving for uncollectible accounts. The Company calculates the allowance for uncollectible
accounts based on a formula tied to the aging of accounts receivable by payor class. The Company reserves for
specific accounts that are determined to be uncollectible when such determinations are made. Accounts are
written off when all collection efforts are exhausted.

Medicare fiscal intermediaries and other payors periodically conduct pre-payment or post-payment
medical reviews or other audits of the Company’s reimbursement claims. In order to conduct these reviews,
the payor requests documentation from the Company and then reviews that documentation to determine
compliance with applicable rules and regulations, including the eligibility of patients to receive hospice
benefits, the appropriateness of the care provided to those patients, and the documentation of that care. The
Company cannot predict whether medical reviews or similar audits by federal or state agencies or commercial
payors of the Company’s hospice programs’ reimbursement claims will result in material recoupments or
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

denials, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations.

Goodwill and Other Non-Amortizable Assets

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) on January 1, 2002. Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the
fair value of identifiable assets acquired. Under SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
are not amortized but reviewed for impairment annually (during the fourth quarter) or more frequently if
certain indicators arise. Goodwill is reviewed at the reporting unit level, which is defined in SFAS 142 as an
operating segment or one level below an operating segment. The Company has defined their reporting units at
the operating segment level. The Company determines the fair value of the reporting units using multiples of
revenue. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then an indication of impairment
exists. The amount of the impairment would be determined by estimating the fair values of the tangible and
intangible assets and liabilities, with the remaining fair value assigned to goodwill. The amount of the
impairment would be the difference between the carrying amount of the goodwill and the fair value of the
goodwill. No impairment charges have been recorded.

Net Patient Service Revenue

Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, Medicare,
Medicaid, commercial insurance and managed care payors and others for services rendered. Payors may
determine that the services provided are not covered and do not qualify for payment or, for commercial payors,
that payments are subject to usual and customary rates. To determine net patient service revenue,
management adjusts gross patient service revenue for estimated payment denials and contractual adjustments
based on historical experience. Changes in the estimate are adjusted in future periods as the payments are
determined. The percentage of net patient service revenue derived under the Medicare and Medicaid
programs was 97.2%, 97.5% and 97.0% for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

The Company is subject to limits for payments. For inpatient services, which represented about 8.7% of
gross patient service revenue in 2003, the limit is based on inpatient care days. If inpatient care days provided
to patients at a hospice exceeded 20% of the total days of hospice care provided for the year, then payment for
days in excess of this limit are paid for at the routine home care rate. None of the Company’s hospice
programs exceeded the payment limits on inpatient services in 2001, 2002, or 2003.

Overall payments made by Medicare to the Company are also subject to a cap amount calculated by the
Medicare fiscal intermediary at the end of the hospice cap period. The hospice cap period runs from
November 1st of each year through October 31st of the following year. Total Medicare payments to the
Company during this period are compared to the cap amount for this period. Payments in excess of the cap
amount must be returned by the Company to Medicare. The cap amount is calculated by multiplying the
number of beneficiaries electing hospice care during the period by a statutory amount that is indexed for
inflation. The per-beneficiary cap amount was $18,661 for the twelve-month period ending October 31, 2003.
The per beneficiary cap amount for the twelve month period ending October 31, 2004 has not been published.
Once published, the new cap amount will become effective retroactively for all services performed since
November 1, 2003. The hospice cap amount is computed on a hospice-by-hospice basis. Qur net patient
service revenue for 2003 was reduced by $1.2 million as a result of six hospice programs exceeding the
Medicare cap. The Company cannot assure that additional hospices will not exceed the cap amount in the
future.

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to
interpretation. The Company believes that it is in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and is
not aware of any pending or threatened investigations involving allegations of potential wrongdoing. While no
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

such regulatory inquiries have been made, compliance with laws and regulations can be subject to future
government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action including fines, penalties and
exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Charity Care

The Company provides charity care to patients without charge when management of the hospice has
determined that the patient does not have the financial capability to pay, which is determined at or near the
time of admission. Because the Company does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as
charity care, they are not reported as revenue.

Charity care, based on established charges, amounted to $0.9 million, $2.0 million and $2.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Direct Hospice Care Expenses

Direct hospice care expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits, payroll taxes, and travel costs
associated with hospice care providers. Direct hospice care expenses also include the cost of pharmaceuticals,
durable medical equipment, medical supplies, inpatient arrangements, net nursing home costs and purchase
services such as ambulance, infusion and radiology.

Property and Equipment and Other Intangible Assets

Property and equipment, including improvements to existing facilities, are recorded at cost. Depreciation
and amortization are calculated principally using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Estimated useful lives for major asset categories are three years for leasehold improvements, three
to five years for equipment and computer software, and five years for office furniture.

Other intangible assets are comprised of licenses and non-compete agreements. The non-compete
agreements are being amortized based on the terms of the respective contracts.

When events, circumstances and operating results indicate that the carrying value of certain property,
equipment, and other intangible assets might be impaired, the Company prepares projections of the
undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If
the projections indicate that the recorded amounts are not expected to be recoverable, such amounts are
reduced to estimated fair value. Indicators of potential impairment are typically beyond the control of
management. If market conditions become less favorable than those projected by management, impairments
may be required.

On January 1, 2002 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 supercedes
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121 “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of” (“SFAS 121”") and the accounting and reporting provisions of
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 “Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions” (“APB 30”) for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 establishes a single
accounting model, based on the framework established in SFAS 121, for long-lived assets to be disposed of by
sale and resolves implementation issues related to SFAS 121 by removing goodwill from its scope. The
adoption of SFAS 144 would impact the results of operations and the financial position of the Company if a
component of the Company’s business is designated as held for sale after adoption of SFAS 144. Components
designated as held for sale would be reported separately as discontinued operations with prior periods restated.
Currently, the Company has not designated any components as held for sale under SFAS 144, but could do so
in the future.
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Stock-Based Compensation

The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosures” (“SFAS 148”) in December
2002. SFAS 148 amends the disclosure provisions and transition alternatives of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”) and is effective
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The Company adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS 148
effective December 31, 2002.

Prior to 2001, the Company had two stock-based compensation plans which are described more fully in
Note 7. The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement principles of APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and related interpretations.
APB 25 uses the intrinsic value method to account for options granted to employees. Stock-based
compensation is generally not recognized since the option price is typically equal the market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant. During the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, the
Company recorded aggregate deferred compensation for employees of $2.1 million and $1.5 million,
respectively, representing the difference between the exercise prices of the stock options granted in fiscal year
2000 and 2001 under the Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. Stock Option Plan and 2001 Equity-Based Compensation
Plan and the then deemed fair value of the common stock prior to the initial public offering (the “Offering”).
These amounts are being amortized to operations using the graded method. Under the graded method,
approximately 46%, 26%, 15%, 9% and 4%, respectively of each option’s compensation expense is recognized
in each of the five years following the date of the grant. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003, the Company amortized deferred compensation in the amount of $1.1 million, $0.7 million and
$0.4 million, respectively. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to all stock-based compensation.

Year Ended December 31

2001 2002 2003
(In thousands)

Net income available to common stockholders, as reported .. ... $17,554  $21,140  $31,207
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net

Of 8K 901 425 249
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense,

net of tax ... .. (440)  (1,285)  (2,366)
Pro forma net income available to common stockholders ... .... $18,015  $20,280  $29,090
Earnings per share:
Basic—asreported ........... .. ... .. i $ 183 § 061 $ 087
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net

Of 1aX .« . 0.09 0.01 0.01
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense,

net of tax ... oo e (0.04) (0.04) {0.07)
Basic—proforma ........ ... ... . . . $ 18 $ 058 $ 081
Diluted —as reported. ........ ... .. $ 045 $ 058 § 084
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net

of tax ..o 0.03 0.01 0.00
Deduct: Fair value stock-based employee compensation expense,

et Of taX . ..t (0.01) (0.04) (0.06)
Diluted —proforma........ ... ... ... . $ 047 §$ 055 $ 0.78
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The deemed fair value for options granted prior to the offering was estimated at the date of grant using
the minimum value option valuation model, which assumes the stock price has no volatility since the common
stock was not publicly traded at the time of grant. The deemed fair value for options granted after the offering
was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes Model, which considers volatility. The following
table illustrates the weighted average assumptions for the years ended December 31:

2001 2002 2003
Risk free interestrate ........... .. ... . ... 4.50%~5.19% 3.44%-4.55% 3.50%
Expected life.......... .. i i 6 years S years 5 years
Expected volatility .......... ... ... .. ... ... ... ..... 0.590 0.715 1.558

Expected dividend yield. .................. .. oo oL — — —

The weighted average deemed fair value of the options granted was $6.32, $11.46 and $16.63 in the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Net Income Per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is computed by dividing net income less the annual Series A,
Series B and Series C Convertible Preferred Stock dividends, where applicable, by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share is computed
by dividing the net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period
plus the effect of dilutive securities, giving effect to the conversion of the convertible preferred stock (using the
if-converted method), where applicable, and employee stock options and outstanding warrants (using the
treasury stock method and considering the effect of unrecognized deferred compensation charges). Also see
Note 5.

The accumulated dividends on the Series A, Series B and Series C Convertible Preferred Stock were
reversed in 2001 as they were no longer payable due to the mandatory conversion of the convertible preferred
stock in connection with the Company’s Offering. The Company has accounted for the reversal in accordance
with Emerging Issues Task Force Topic No. D-42 “The Effect on the Calculation of Earnings per Share for
the Redemption or Induced Conversion of Preferred Stock” and recognized a gain to common stockholders in
2001 totaling $5.8 million. This gain was used in the computation of basic net income per common share.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method as required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). Under the
liability method, deferred taxes are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases
of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax laws that will be in effect when the differences
are expected to reverse.

General and Professional Liability Insurance

The Company maintains general liability and professional liability insurance coverage on a claims-made
basis in fiscal 2001, 2002 and 2003, with limits of liability of $1.0 million per occurrence and $3.0 million in
the aggregate. The Company also maintains general liability and umbrella coverage with a limit of
$20.0 million,

Nursing Home Costs

For patients receiving nursing home care under a state Medicaid program who elect hospice care under
Medicare or Medicaid, the Company contracts with nursing homes for the nursing homes’ provision to
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

patients of room and board services. The state must pay the Company, in addition to the applicable Medicare
or Medicaid hospice daily or hourly rate, an amount equal to at least 95% of the Medicaid daily nursing home
rate for room and board furnished to the patient by the nursing home. Under the Company’s standard nursing
heme contracts, the Company pays the nursing home for these room and board services at the Medicaid daily
nursing home rate. Nursing home costs are offset by nursing home revenue, and the net amount is included in
direct hospice care expenses. Nursing home costs totaled $25.6 million, $38.4 million and $55.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Nursing home revenue totaled $25.1 million,
$38.2 million and $56.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. During
2003, the Company conducted a review of the nursing home accrual and determined certain amounts were not
payable and reduced nursing home expense by $1.0 million.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred, which totaled $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 and totaled $0.3 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003.

Deferred Rent Liability

Payments under operating leases are recognized as rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the related lease. The difference between the rent expense recognized for financial reporting purposes and the
actual payments made in accordance with the lease agreements is recognized as a deferred rent liability. Rent
expense charged to operations exceeded actual rent payments by $0.3 million and $0.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Reclassification

Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 145 “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 13, and Technical Corrections” (“SFAS 145}, which is required to be applied in fiscal years beginning
after May 15, 2002, with early application encouraged. SFAS 145 rescinds Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 4 “Reporting Gains and Losses From Extinguishment of Debt.” SFAS 145 requires any gains
or losses on extinguishment of debt that were classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods that do not
meet the criteria in APB 30 for classification as an extraordinary item be reclassified into income from
operations. We adopted the provisions of SFAS 145 on January 1, 2003. The impact of adoption of SFAS 145
reduced income from operations by $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 through the
reclassification of the loss on extinguishment of debt.

In April 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 149 “Amendment of SFAS 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(“SFAS 149”). SFAS 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities under
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ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities”. SFAS 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The adoption of
SFAS 149 did not have a material impact on the results of operations or financial position of the Company.

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 150 “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity” (“SFAS 150”). SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain
financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS 150 is effective for financial
instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective beginning after July 1,
2003. On October 29, 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board voted to defer for an indefinite period
the application of SFAS 150 to classification of non-controlling interests of limited-life subsidiaries. The
adoption of SFAS 150 did not have a material impact on the results of operations or financial position of the
Company.

2. Initial Public Offering

On November 5, 2001, the Company completed its Offering at $15.00 (pre-splits) per share. The
Company sold 4.1 million shares (including 0.5 million shares issued upon the exercise of the underwriter’s
option to purchase such shares to cover overallotments). The Company received $56.0 million in net proceeds
from the Offering, of which $7.1 million was used to repay the Company’s outstanding borrowings under its
revolving line of credit, including unpaid interest thereon, and $10.6 million was used to repay the Company’s
12% senior subordinated notes. The Company incurred debt extinguishments costs of $0.6 million, or
$0.4 million, net of tax. The remaining proceeds were used to finance acquisitions of hospices, to develop new
hospice locations and for other general corporate purposes. Upon completion of the Offering, the Company
forgave the repayment of promissory notes payable to it by Richard R. Burnham and David C. Gasmire, who
at the time of our initial public offering were Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and President and Chief
Operating Officer, respectively. The Company recorded a compensation charge of $0.2 million in connection
with the forgiveness of these notes in 2001. Upon the closing of the Offering, the Company’s preferred stock
was mandatorily converted into 8.1 million shares of common stock. The accumulated dividends, which were
not payable in the event of a mandatory conversion, were reversed and no additional dividends were accrued or
recorded subsequent to the Offering. In November 2001 and in connection with the Offering, 1.0 million
shares of common stock were issued upon exercise of warrants originally issued by the Company in connection
with the original issuance of its 12% senior subordinated notes.

3. Acquisitions
2001

In February 2001, the Company purchased all the assets and business of the Comforter of Colorado,
LLC, a hospice program in Colorado Springs, Colorado. The purchase price, including transaction costs,
totaled $0.7 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $0.7 million and certain furniture and fixtures.

In April 2001, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Hospice Health Services, Inc., a
hospice program in Charleston, South Carolina. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$0.7 million, which included a note payable of $0.3 million and assumed liabilities of $0.1 million. Assets
acquired include goodwill of $0.6 million and certain furniture and fixtures.

In April 2001, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Crossroads Hospice of Arkansas,
LLC, a hospice program in Little Rock, Arkansas. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$2.8 million, which included a note payable of $1.0 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $2.7 million
and certain furniture and fixtures.
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In June 2001, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Viator Healthcare, LP, a hospice
program in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled $2.5 million,
which included a note payable of $0.5 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $2.5 million.

In July 2001, the Company purchased certain assets of Alternative Healthcare System, Inc., a hospice
program in Beaumont, Texas. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled $1.5 million, which
included a note payable of $0.6 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $1.5 million.

In September 2001, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Trinity Health Ventures, Inc.,
a hospice program in San Bernardino, California. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$1.5 million, which included a note payable of $0.2 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $1.5 million
and certain furniture and fixtures.

In December 2001, the Company purchased all the stock of Community Care Hospice, a hospice
program in Odessa, Texas. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled $1.7 million, which
included a ndte payable of $0.5 million. Assets and liabilities acquired included cash and short-term
investments of $0.4 million, accounts receivable of $0.3 million, goodwill of $1.6 million, liabilities of
$0.3 million and notes payable of $0.2 million.

2002

In April 2002, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Heart of Ohio Community Health
Services Corporation, a hospice program in Columbus, Ohio. The purchase price, including transaction costs,
totaled $0.6 million and was accounted for as goodwill.

In April 2002, the Company purchased three hospice programs from Hospice Care of Louisiana, Inc.,
located in Baton Rouge, New Orleans and Shreveport, Louisiana. The purchase price, including transaction
costs, totaled $9.9 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $9.8 million and furniture and fixtures of
$0.1 million.

In June 2602, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Centercal Management Services,
LTD, a hospice program located in Bakersfield, California. The purchase price, including transaction costs,
totaled $0.5 million and was accounted for as goodwill.

In July 2002, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Palliative Hospice Center, LLC, a
hospice program located in Wichita, Kansas. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$0.1 million. Alssets acquired included a license of $0.1 million.

In August 2002, the Company purchased all the assets and business of HospiCare, Inc., a hospice
program located in Biloxi, Mississippi. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled $1.1 million.
Assets acquired include licenses of $0.2 million, a non-compete agreement of $0.1 million and goodwill of
$0.8 million. '

In August 2002, the Company purchased all the assets and business of Delta Hospice, Inc., 2 hospice
program located in Albuquerque, New Mexico, including an aiternate delivery site located in Los Alamos,
New Mexico. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled $2.0 million. Assets acquired include
licenses of $0.2 million, a non-compete agreement of $0.1 million and goodwill of $1.7 million. The purchase
agreement included an earnout provision, whereby, in December 2002, the Company paid $0.2 million to the
seller in response to certain revenue targets being met. The earnout was treated as part of the purchase price.

In September 2002, the Company purchased all the assets and business of The Lutheran Home, Inc., a
hospice program located in Omaha, Nebraska. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$0.1 million. Assets acquired include licenses and a non-compete agreement of $0.1 million.
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In October 2002, the Company purchased certain assets of Alternative Healthcare Systems, Inc., a
hospice program located in Lake Charles, Louisiana. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$3.2 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $2.8 million, licenses of $0.2 million and a non-compete
agreement and fixed assets of $0.2 million.

In December 2002, the Company purchased two hospice programs from Circle of Life Hospice, LLP,
located in La Grange and Round Rock, Texas. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$2.5 million. Assets acquired include goodwill of $2.1 million, licenses of $0.2 million, and a non-compete
agreement and fixed assets of $0.2 million.

2003

In February 2003, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and business of Good Shepherd
Hospice and Palliative Care Center, LLC, a hospice program located in Waxahachie, Texas. The purchase
price, including transaction costs, totaled $3.0 million. Assets acquired include licenses of $0.2 million, a non-
compete agreement of $0.1 million, goodwill of $2.7 million and certain furniture and fixtures.

In May 2003, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and business of Mahogany Hospice
Care, Inc., a hospice program located in Memphis, Tennessee. The purchase price, including transaction costs,
totaled $1.3 million. Assets acquired include licenses of $0.3 million, a non-compete agreement of $0.2 mil-
lion, and goodwill of $0.8 million and certain furniture and fixtures.

Also in May 2003, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and business of Homecare
Hospice, Inc., a hospice program located in Valdosta, Georgia. The purchase price, including transaction
costs, totaled $0.5 million. Assets acquired include licenses of $0.1 million, a non-compete agreement of
$0.1 million, and furniture and fixtures and goodwill of $0.3 million.

In August 2003, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and business of Omega Hospice,
Ltd., a hospice program located in Brownsville, Texas. The purchase price, including transaction costs, totaled
$1.7 million. Assets acquired include licenses of $0.1 million, a non-compete agreement of $0.2 million, and
goodwill of $1.4 million and certain furniture and fixtures.

Also in August 2003, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and business of First State
Hospice, L.L.C., a hospice program located in Wilmington, Delaware. The purchase price, including
transaction costs, totaled $0.5 million. Assets acquired include licenses of $0.1 million, a non-compete
agreement of $0.1 million, and goodwill of $0.3 million and certain furniture and fixtures.

In September 2003, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and business of Utah’s Heritage
Hospice, L.L.C., a hospice program located in Salt Lake City, Utah. The purchase price, including transaction
costs, totaled $11.8 million. Assets acquired include licenses of $0.2 million, a non-compete agreement of
$0.2 million, and goodwill of $11.4 million and certain furniture and fixtures.

Also in September 2003, the Company purchased certain assets of Grace, Inc, a hospice program located
in Omaha, Nebraska, with a patient census of approximately 35. The purchase price, including transaction
costs, totaled $0.3 million. Assets acquired include a non-compete agreement of $0.1 million and goodwill of
$0.2 million.

In November 2003, the Company purchased certain assets of Palliative Care, Inc., a hospice program
located in San Antonio, Texas, with a patient census of approximately 100. The purchase price, including
transaction costs, totaled $3.3 million. Assets acquired include a non-compete agreement of $0.2 million. and
goodwill of $3.1 million and certain furniture and fixtures.
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2004

In January 2004, the Company purchased substantially all the assets and business of Crown of Texas,
Ltd., a hospice program with operations located in Amarillo, Texas and Conroe, Texas. The purchase price
totaled $22.5 million.

The Company has made acquisitions to expand its base of hospice locations. All acquisitions were
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The results of operations have been included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company from the dates of acquisition.

Unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations of the Company for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are presented below. Such pro forma presentation has been prepared assuming
that the acquisitions described above have been made as of January 1 of the year preceding the year of
acquisition:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Pro forma net patient service revenue .................. $160,336 $231,611 $289,513
Proformanet InCOME. . ..o vt ii e 15,486 23,441 31,716
Pro forma net income per common share:
Basic net income available to common stockholders .... $§ 2.11 $  0.67 $ 0.8

Diluted net income available to common stockholders... § 0.54 $ 064 $ 085

4. Intangible Assets

Goodwill allocated to the Company’s reportable segments at December 31, 2002 and 2003 is as follows
(in thousands);

Northeast Southeast Central South Midwest Texas Mountain West Corporate Total
January 1, 2003 . .... $2,379 $703  $3,916 $14,970 $2,590 $ 7,814 §$ 8,739 $5,296 $120  $46,527
Acquisitions . ....... 316 290 237 741 —_ 7,270 11,297 — — 20,151

Disposals .......... — — — — — — — — — —

December 31, 2003 ..  $2,695 $993  $4,153 $15711 $2,590 $15,084 $20,036 $5296 $120  $66,678

Other indéfinite lived assets are comprised of license agreements, which totaled $0.9 and $1.9 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and are included in intangibles in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. The Company does not believe there is any indication that the carrying value of the license
agreements exceeds their fair value.

Intangible assets subject to amortization relate primarily to non-compete agreements that are being
amortized based on the terms of the respective contracts and totaled $0.4 and S$1.1 million (net of
accumulated amortization of $41,000 and $0.4 million) at December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and are
included in intangibles in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization expense of the assets
that still require amortization under SFAS 142 was $0, $41,000 and $0.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Amortization expense relating to these intangible assets will
be approximately $0.5 million, $0.4 million and $0.2 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the effect on net income and earnings per share excluding goodwill
amortization which was recognized in the year ended December 31, 2001. Consistent with SFAS 142, the
results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001 has not been restated for the change in goodwill
amortization, which was recognized in the year ended December 31, 2001.

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(In thousands, except per share data)
Reported net income applicable to common stockholders . . . .. $17,554 $21,140 ~ $31,207
Add back goodwill amortization, net of income tax .......... 1,228 — —
Adjustednetincome............ ... i $18,782 $21,140 $31,207
Basic earnings per share:
Asreported . ... $ 183 § 0.6l $ 087
Goodwill amortization ............ ...t 0.13 — —
Adjusted basic earnings per share....................... $ 196 $ 061 $ 087
Diluted earnings per share:
AsTeported .. ... § 045 $ 058 $ 084
Goodwill amortization ............. .o, 0.04 — —
Adjusted diluted earnings per share ..................... $§ 0.49 $ 0.58 $ 0.84

5. Common Stock

On February 24, 2003 and August 12, 2003, the Company completed two separate three-for-two stock
splits, each payable in the form of a fifty percent stock dividend. The accompanying consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto have been restated for all periods presented to reflect these stock dividends.

6. Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

In connection with the issuance of the $1.5 million convertible promissory notes on May 22, 1998, the
Company issued Series B warrants to the lenders to purchase 0.2 million shares of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock for consideration of $0.017 per share. The warrants were valued at fair value, as determined by
the Company, at $0.2 million. This was recorded as a discount on the convertible promissory notes as of
December 31, 1998. The exercise price of the stock warrants was $0.83 and was adjusted from time to time as
provided in the warrant purchase agreement. In December 2000, the warrants were amended such that upon
completion of an initial public offering where the aggregate price paid for such shares by the public is equal to
or greater than $20.0 million at a per share price of at least $4.00, the warrants were exercisable to purchase
0.2 million shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.67 per share. This amendment
eliminated the possibility of any additional shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock becoming
outstanding after the completion of an initial public offering and did not provide the holders of the warrants
any additional rights and, accordingly, no additional expense was recorded. Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock warrants to purchase 30,587 shares of common stock remained outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

7. Stock Options

The Company no longer grants options under the Odyssey HealthCare, Inc. Stock Option Plan (“Stock
Option Plan”). During 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Equity-Based Compensation Plan (“Compensa-
tion Plan”). Awards of stock options under the Compensation Plan shall not exceed the lesser of 150,000,000
shares, or 10% of the total number of shares of common stock then outstanding, assuming the exercise of all

F-17



ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

outstanding options, warrants and the conversion or exchange or exercise of all securities convertible into or
exchangeable or exercisable for common stock.

At December 31, 2003 there were 2,124,857 options and 617,220 options outstanding under the Stock
Option Plan and the Compensation Plan, respectively, with exercise prices ranging from $0.04 to $28.48 per
share. All options granted have five to ten-year terms and vest over a four- and five-year period.

There were 1,611,185 shares and 1,745,401 shares available for issuance under the Compensation Plan at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

A summary of stock option activity follows;
Weighted Average
Exercise Price Options

(In thousands,
except dollar amounts)

Options outstanding at January 1, 2001........................... $0.51 2,145
Granted, . . ... 5.69 1,197
Canceled ........ e e e 1.81 (72)
Exercised.................. SO P 0.30 _(123)

Options outstanding at December 31,2001 ....................... 2.43 3,147
€ L 12.39 597
Canceled . ... ... 6.19 (210)
Exercised. . ... oo 0.79 _{676)

Options outstanding at December 31,2002 ....................... 4.51 2,858
Granted! . . ... 19.81 1,528
Cancelled. ... ... o e 13.42 (154)
Exercised .. ... .. ... 3.04 (1,450)

Options outstanding at December 31,2003 ....................... 12.85 2,742
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The following table summarizes the stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2003:
Weighted Average

Remaining Number Number

Number Contractual Life Vested and Unvested and

Exercise Price Outstanding (Years) Exercisable Not Exercisable

{Amounts in thousands, except dollar amounts)

$ 004, . I 2.91 1 —
044. . 286 4.77 — 286
L3 240 6.86 95 145
3 33 7.33 9 24
S 57 7.67 10 47
0 8 PP 443 1.92 2 441
D 0 124 8.58 43 81
I 3 145 8.08 15 130
IS 05 411 8.92 46 365
1S S 159 9.08 — 159
15,53 103 8.92 22 81
1876 13 9.42 — 13
2000. .. 45 9.42 — 45
22 3 443 9.50 — 443
2796 16 9.50 — 16
2848 . 223 9.50 = 223
2742 701 243 2499




ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

8. Net Income Per Common Share

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income per common share:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator »
Net INCOME ..o vt et et e $12,896 $21,140 $31,207
Series A, B and C Preferred Stock Dividends........... (1,097) — —
Gain on conversion of preferred securities . ............. 5,755 — —
Numerator for basic earnings per share — income
available to common stockholders................... 17,554 21,140 31,207
Effect of dilutive securities:
Series A, B and C Preferred Stock dividends . ........ 1,097 — —
Gain on conversion of preferred securities .. .......... (5,755) — —

Numerator for diluted net income per share — net income
available to common stockholders after actual

COMVETSIONS .+ + e v e v et e et e ettt e e $12,896 $21,140 $31,207
Denominator
Denominator for basic net income per share — weighted
AVETAZe ShaTes ..o vt e 9,552 34,782 35,945
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options . .......................... 1,875 1,881 1,281
Series A, B and C Preferred Stock.................. 15,107 — —
Series B Preferred Stock Warrants convertible to
common stock .. ... ... 238 28 30
Common stock warrants. ..............oveivnnan.. 1,848 — —
Denominator for diluted net income per share — adjusted
weighted average shares and actual conversions . ... ... 28,620 36,691 37,256
Net income per common share:
Basic net income available to common stockholders .. ... $ 1.83 $ 061 $ 0.87
Diluted ‘net income available to common stockholders.... $ 045 $ 0.58 $ 0.84

9. Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

The allowance for uncollectible accounts for patient accounts receivable is as follows:

Balance at - Provision for Write-Offs,
Beginning of Uncollectible Net of Balance at
Year Accounts Recoveries End of Year
. (In thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2001........... $3,140 $3,207 $(2,953) $3,394
Year ended December 31, 2002........... $3,394 $2,952 $(3,384) $2,962
Year ended December 31, 2003........... $2.962 $4,015 $(3,064) $3,913
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10. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is as follows:
December 31,

2002 2003
(In thousands)

OffiCe fUIMItUIE . . . .o i e e e e e e $1,432 $2,504
Computer hardWare . ... ..ot e e 2,022 3,310
Computer software . .. ...t 1,041 2,365
EqQUIPIMERT . .o\ e 526 802
Motor vehicles ... ... . 93 97
Buildings . ..ot 25 —
Leasehold improvements . . . ... ..ot i e 1,803 2,691

6,942 11,769
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization. ............. ... ....... 3,272 5,334

$3,670 $6,435

11. Line of Credit, Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Line of credit, long-term debt and capital lease obligations consists of the following:

December 31,
2002 2003
(In thousands)

Acquisition notes payable, due in 2003; bearing interest at 7% to 8%, all of which

AT UNSECUTEd . . . ottt e $248 $—
Leasehold improvement loans due between 2004 and 2008; interest at 6.50% and

10,37 0. o o 13 17

Various capital leases covering equipment, due in 2003; interest rates ranging

from 7% to 15%; secured by eqUIPMENt ... ... vttt e 13 _—

274 17

Less current maturitles . . ..ottt e e 274 _4

$ —  $13

ll

The Company had a $20.0 million revolving line of credit that bore interest at prime, as defined in the
agreement, plus 1%, not to fall below 10%, and matured on October 2, 2003. No amounts were drawn on the
line of credit at December 31, 2002 or October 2, 2003, the maturity date.
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Scheduled principal repayments on debt for the next five years are as follows:
‘ December 31, 2003

Debt
(In thousands)
2004 . e e e e $ 4
2000 . e 5
2006 . e 5
2007 . e e e e 2
2008 . 1
$17

12. Income Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,
2002 2003
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Accounts receivable . . ... ... § 889 $ —
Accrued compensation .. .......... i e 622 808
Workers’ coOmpensation .. ........une et 241 638
1,752 1,446
Deferred tax liabilities:

Accounts receivable ... ... L L — (220)
Amortizable and depreciable assets . ...................coiii. ... (1,767) (3,871)
O her . L (12) (471)
‘ (1,779) (4,562)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) ........ ..o .. $ (27) $(3,116)

The components of the Company’s income tax expense are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in thousands)

Current:
Federal ... ... $2,698  $10,704 $14,914
S ate . . e e 645 2,086 1,836
| 3343 12,790 16,750
Deferred:
Federal ..o v oot (306) 298 2,629
SALE o et (17) 52 460

$3,020  $13,140  $19,839
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The reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the federal statutory tax rate to income tax
expense is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent
(Dollars in thousands)
Tax at federal statutory rate . ....... $5,571 35% $11,998 35%  $17,866 35%
State income tax, net of federal
benefit ........... ... 628 4 1,064 3 1,452 3
Stock-based compensation charges .. 389 2 142 1 (94) —
Non-deductible expenses and other . . 151 1 (64) (1) 615 1
Decrease in valuation allowance. .. .. (3,719)  (23) — — — —

$3,020  19% $13,140  38% $19.839  39%

The decrease in the valuation allowance in 2001 was due to the consistent profitability of the Company’s
operations and the Cémpany’s ability to generate taxable income and utilize its remaining net operating loss
carryforwards.

13. Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401 (k) plan, which is available to substantially all employees after meeting
certain eligibility requirements. The plan provides for contributions by the employees based on a percentage of
their income. The Company at its discretion may make contributions. Matching contributions totaled
$0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively.

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
The Company leases office space and equipment at its various locations. Total rental expense was

approximately $4.1 million, $5.2 million, and $7.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively. :

Future minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases for the years subsequent to
December 31, 2003, are as follows (in thousands):

2004 . e $ 6,872
2005 L 6,476
2006 . o 5,630
2007 4,089
2008 e 2,466
Thereafter ... ... 6,635

$32,168

Contingencies

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Although
the results of litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes the outcome of pending

F-23




‘ ODYSSEY HEALTHCARE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

litigation will not have a material adverse effect, after considering the effect of the Company’s insurance
coverage, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s current general and professional liability policy does not provide coverage for claims that
arise from acts that occurred prior to the policy’s start date of April 12, 2000. From March 12, 1999 to
April 12, 2000, Reliance National Insurance Company provided the Company’s insurance coverage. Since
April 12, 200(), Lexington Insurance Company, a subsidiary of American International Group, Inc., has
provided the Company’s insurance coverage. During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Insurance Commissioner
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania placed Reliance National Insurance Company in liquidation. Based on
the Company’s estimation of open claims, the Company is maintaining a reserve to cover potential losses
resulting from current and future litigation claims covered by Reliance National Insurance Company to the
extent its assets are not sufficient to pay such claims. Although the Company believes that the amount
reserved is adequate to cover its potential losses, there can be no assurance that the Company’s losses will not
exceed the amount reserved. The Company’s profitability will be negatively impacted to the extent its actual
losses exceed the amount reserved.

15. Segment Reporting

Prior to 2002, the Company evaluated the performance of, and allocated resources to, its hospice
programs based on current operations and market assessments on a hospice-by-hospice basis. The Company’s
continued growth in 2002 and 2003 reshaped these bases for evaluation and the Company now has
geographically defined operating segments which to perform analysis and evaluate performance. The 2001 and
2002 amounts have been restated to reflect the change in operating segments.

The Company currently evaluates performance and allocates resources primarily on the basis of cost per
day of care and income from operations. The distribution of the Company’s net patient service revenue, direct
hospice care expenses, income (loss) from operations (which is used by management for operating
performance review), average daily census and assets by geographic location are summarized in the following
tables.

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(In thousands)

Net patient service revenue:

NOTHREAST & . o vttt et e e e e e $ 8234 $ 11,992 $ 15730
SOUTREASt . . oo e 5,976 8,862 12,426
Central ... ... 13,019 16,793 23,051
SOUth o 16,026 29,014 41,073
MEAWEST .ot 14,990 20,376 25,345
XA it e 23,239 41,626 61,193
MOURTAIN « .. 29,062 38,292 57,360
YOSt i 19,638 27,504 38,131
COTPOTALE . ottt et e (3) — —

$130,181  $194,459  $274,309
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Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(In thousands)

Direct hospice care expenses:

O AT .« ottt et e e $ 3461 § 5398 § 7,649
Southeast . ... ... i e 2,947 4,290 6,038
Central ...\ IR 5,739 7,652 11,100
SoUth L. 7,535 14,193 20,155
MEAWESE - . oo e 6,397 9,000 12,515
T XS .ttt 13,170 22,798 33,193
Mountain ... 13,903 18,380 27,719
S =3 S PP 9,025 13,160 18,592
COTPOTAtE . .ottt e e 92 73 (595)

$ 62,269 $ 94,944  $136,366

Income (loss) from operations:

NOMheast . . ... e $ 3093 § 4,018 $ 4,49
SOUIRGAST . .. .ottt 1,845 2911 3,942
Central ... e 5,117 5,781 7,157
South ... ... ... .. P 5,930 9,468 13,025
Midwest .. ... 5,467 7,181 6,842
T OXAS oottt 5,394 11,341 17,009
MoOURLAIN .. o 8,645 12,244 19,975
=T 6,275 8,378 12,133
COTPOTALE . . .ottt e e e (23,427)  (27,367)  (33,783)

$ 18,339 $ 33955 § 50,79

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003

Average Daily Census:

Northeast . ... 196 274 346
Southeast ... ... ... 128 181 259
Central ..o 347 431 566
South ... 418 749 1,019
MIdWest . . e 365 467 559
XS . oot 581 997 1,440
MOUNTAIN L .ot e 591 745 1,094
St o e 418 563 736

3,044 4,407 6,019
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Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003
(In thousands)

Total Assets:

NOTEREASt o vttt e $ 3,748 § 5,693
Southeast .................................................... 2,052 4,458
Central .. e 6,935 9,145
SOULH . o e 22,601 26,637
Midwest. ... . 8,250 11,434
T EXAS . .ttt e e 14,751 28,341
MOUNTAIN . o vttt e et e e 17,993 34,538
VSt o 10,233 12,493

COIPOTALE . . oot 38,831 46,819
: $125,414  $179,558

16. Related Party Transactions

A former member of the Company’s board of directors is a partner of the limited liability partnership
from which the Company had obtained the senior subordinated notes. Interest paid on these notes was
approximately $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. These notes were paid in full with proceeds
from the Offering.

In January 1996, the Company accepted notes from executive management totaling $0.2 million for the
purchase of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. During 2000, a former executive forfeited 0.1 million shares
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in exchange for forgiveness of his note payable to the Company
totaling $0.1 million, including accumulated dividends. In 2001, the Company forgave the remaining notes
totaling $0.2 million. Compensation expense was recorded totaling $0.2 million representing note principal and
accrued interest in 2001.

17. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

Statement ‘of Financial accounting Standards No. 107 “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” (“SFAS 107”) requires disclosures of fair value information about financial instruments,
whether or not irecognized in the balance sheet, for which it is practicable to estimate that value. In cases
where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or other
valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by assumptions used, including the discount
rate and estimates of future cash flows. In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated
by comparison to independent markets, and in many cases, could not be realized in immediate settlement of
the instrument. SFAS 107 excludes certain financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments from its
disclosure requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented do not represent the
underlying value of the Company. The following methods and assumptions used by the Company in
estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments:

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

The carrying amount reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents and short-
term investments approximates its fair value.
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Line of Credit and Long-term Debt (Including Current Maturities)

The fair values of the long-term debt are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, based on the
Company’s incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31,

2002 and 2003 are as follows (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments . .............. ... .......

Acquisition notes payable (including current
maturities )

Long-term debt (including current maturities)

18. Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information

2002 2003
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
$7732 $7732 0§ 232 0§ 232
$25,898  $25,898  $38,742  $38,742
$ 248 § 248 § — 3 —

$ 26 $§ 26 § 17 8 17

The quarterly interim financial information shown below has been prepared by the Company’s manage-
ment and is unaudited. It should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements

appearing herein:

Total revenues . ....... .. ... i
Netincome . ... oo e e
Net income per share — Basic....................
Net income per share — Diluted . .................
Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic ... ....

Weighted average shares outstanding — Diluted . . . ..

Total revenues ... i
NetinCome . .. oovvt i
Net income per share — Basic . ...................
Net income per share — Diluted ........... .......
Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic .......

Weighted average shares outstanding — Diluted . .. ..
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2003 Calendar Quarters

First Second Third Fourth
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
$60,060 864,896  $71,049  $78,304
$ 7,208 $ 7567 $ 7847 § 8,585
$ 020 S 021 §$ 022 $ 024
$ 020 $ 020 §$§ 021 § 023
35,423 35,643 36,063 36,392
36,869 37,194 37,791 37,990
2002 Calendar Quarters
First Second Third Fourth
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
$40,133 $46,636  $50,737 $56,953
$ 4024 $4732 §$ 5405 $ 6978
$ 012 §$ 014 $ 015 $ 020
$ o1t $ 013 §$ 015 $ 0.19
34,497 34,739 34,890 34,994
36,723 36,815 36,777 37,002
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